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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Good afternoon. I

          3  am Council Member Leroy Comrie, Chair of the

          4  Consumer Affairs Committee. I would like to welcome

          5  everyone to this meeting of the Consumer Affairs

          6  Committee.

          7                 Today, we will be reviewing

          8  introductory bill 57, relating to bed bugs and the

          9  creation of a bed bug task force.

         10                 We have invited members of the

         11  Administration, Consumer and Health Advocates,

         12  representatives of the mattress and extermination

         13  industries, as well as interested members of the

         14  public to speak on the proposed bill.

         15                 We look forward to their remarks.

         16                 Bed bug is a common name given to a

         17  parasite that preys on its victims during the night

         18  by piercing the skin as they sleep.

         19                 Although bed bugs are not generally

         20  known as human disease carriers, their bites result

         21  in welts that become irritated and inflamed.

         22                 Because bed bugs are wingless, these

         23  insects generally proliferate by attaching

         24  themselves to clothing, luggage, furniture, and

         25  bedding.
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          2                 In the early stages of an

          3  infestation, bed bugs are found in the seams and

          4  folds of mattresses and bed covers, but they quickly

          5  spread to the cracks and crevices in wooden bed

          6  frames.

          7                 Although bed bugs were widely

          8  exterminated in the United States after World War

          9  II, pest control experts report a resurgence in bed

         10  bug-related complaints, particularly in buildings

         11  with high occupancy turnover.

         12                 These insects are reportedly immune

         13  to standard pesticides and are extremely difficult

         14  to eliminate.

         15                 If just one bed bug survives a

         16  fumigation, an area can quickly become reinfested as

         17  an adult female can lay up to five eggs per day, and

         18  each egg takes as little as 17 days to hatch.

         19                 New York City's own Department of

         20  Housing and Preservation (sic) recorded 377 bed

         21  bug-related violations in 2004, after having

         22  recorded 16 in 2003 and just two in 2002.

         23                 By July of 2005, 449 violations had

         24  already been recorded.

         25                 Experts attribute this sudden
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          2  increase to increase national travel, newer

          3  pesticide restrictions, and the recycled mattress

          4  industry.

          5                 State law requires second-hand

          6  bedding retailers to sanitize mattress in accordance

          7  with standards established by the Department of

          8  State and the Department of Health.

          9                 However, when questioned by Council

         10  staff, representatives of the State Health

         11  Department were unable to provide those standards.

         12                 To help combat this disturbing trend,

         13  Intro. 57 would prohibit the sale of reconditioned

         14  mattresses, as well as create a task force to study

         15  bed bug-related health concerns.

         16                 After completing its study, the task

         17  force would be charged with making recommendations

         18  to eliminate the bed bug problem.

         19                 Before we hear from the witnesses, I

         20  would like to recognize Council Member Gale Brewer,

         21  Chair of the Committee on Technology in Government,

         22  Council Member from the west side of Manhattan, and

         23  the prime sponsor of Intro. 57.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         25  much, Council member, and Chair Comrie. I very much
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          2  appreciate you calling this hearing.

          3                 And also thank the Speaker for giving

          4  us the opportunity to talk about this issue.

          5                 The issue of bed bugs came to our

          6  attention from individuals living in our community,

          7  not just in single-room occupancy and residential

          8  hotels, but certainly they were the people who first

          9  brought bed bugs to our attention.

         10                 We then learned, and I think Dr.

         11  Sorken as an entomologist and Dr. Pollack and others

         12  will indicate that this is a new phenomenon, as the

         13  Chair indicated, cities like London and Sydney

         14  Australia have experienced in the last few years a

         15  resurgence of bed bugs, so it's not just New York. I

         16  think it is a concern, in terms of tourism, not to

         17  mention those of us who live here. And we didn't

         18  quite know what to do, so we did introduce Intro.

         19  No. 57, which focuses, as the Chairman indicated, on

         20  two aspects: One is intra-coordination between

         21  agencies, and I think a great deal more education to

         22  the public regarding what to do if one has bed bugs.

         23  And also the issue of mattresses are open for

         24  discussion, as how to prevent bed bugs, but

         25  obviously one place where they hide extremely well
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          2  is in our mattresses. So, that's certainly one way

          3  that we could deal with bed bugs.

          4                 We have received hundreds of phone

          5  calls about this issue. In fact, people have called

          6  from Long Island, just the other day, a woman whose

          7  neighbor she was trying to accommodate was guests

          8  from Italy, and unbeknownst to everyone they had bed

          9  bugs. So, that house had to be cleared of them.

         10                 Many, many friends of mine have bed

         11  bugs, and I think the issue is if one has the

         12  funding to hire an extremely good exterminator, some

         13  of whom will testify here today as to the correct

         14  means to get rid of bed bugs, then one can do that.

         15                 But as I think some of the attorneys

         16  who represent clients in Housing Court will testify,

         17  it's a real concern for the courts and for owners,

         18  as well as tenants, or residents in general, because

         19  there's a great deal of cost involved, in terms of

         20  getting rid of them.

         21                 So, I think that a bed bug does not

         22  discriminate in terms of who he or she visits, it's

         23  across the board in terms of the types of

         24  individuals in terms of socioeconomics, and as the

         25  Chairman indicated, it has nothing to do with
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          2  whether we have a clean or dirty home, it is just

          3  wherever that bed bug travels.

          4                 I do think that other cities, Boston,

          5  for instance, has addressed this issue, and I think

          6  we'll hear from individuals who have looked at some

          7  of the ways in which other cities are dealing with

          8  bugs.

          9                 Just last night, those of you who

         10  know me know that I'm the Chair of the Technology

         11  Task Force and a huge Internet user, and I send out

         12  e-mail every couple of weeks. I sent one out this

         13  weekend to my, it was actually 20,000 people on my

         14  list, and I must have gotten 12, or 13 calls,

         15  e-mails, responding with homes that are bed bugs and

         16  really not what to do.

         17                 There isn't enough information that

         18  is correct as to how to deal with this problem. So,

         19  I think, I must admit, even reporters who had

         20  thought I was sort of being cute or not serious when

         21  we first introduced the legislation had quietly come

         22  to me recently and said I was correct, because they

         23  have bed bugs.

         24                 So, this is an issue that I think we

         25  need to address, both from an economic development
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          2  and a human family issue, that even though this

          3  piece of legislation is a start, but I do think that

          4  we need to come up with something that will give New

          5  Yorkers and visitors a comfort level, that the City

          6  of New York is focusing on this issue, we're going

          7  to prevent bed bugs and we're going to get rid of

          8  the ones that we have.

          9                 I also want to thank the individuals

         10  who are going to come forward and talk about what

         11  they did when they had bed bugs, so understandably a

         12  lot of people are afraid to do that, and I don't

         13  blame them.

         14                 So, most importantly, I also want to

         15  thank Rosala Rodriguez and Shula Warren from our

         16  office. They put a great deal of time into working

         17  with individuals, to answering phone calls and

         18  dealing with the Yahoo site, which apparently had

         19  the biggest hit ever when they mentioned bed bugs.

         20                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you,

         22  Council Member Brewer, for bringing this to our

         23  attention and being consistent in an effort to try

         24  to highlight this particular problem.

         25                 We are joined by Council Member
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          2  Oliver Koppell from the Bronx. I want to thank you

          3  for attending the hearing. And with that we'll just

          4  move straight forward ahead now. I won't make any

          5  other opening statements, other than thanking

          6  Shuler, from your office, Council Member Brewer, for

          7  all of her help and helping my staff, Thomas

          8  Ferrugia, and Brian Sogol, my legislative counsel

          9  and policy analyst, Joe Goldblum, Roxanne Thomas and

         10  Josh Rivera from my office and Veronica Neil from

         11  Finance, in trying to make sure that we got all the

         12  bugs out of today's hearing to use a bad, very bad

         13  joke. I'll try to restrain myself for the rest of

         14  the day. I just wanted to get that off the top.

         15                 With that, we'll turn it over to Mr.

         16  Eiler, Andrew Eiler, from the Department of Consumer

         17  Affairs, and the gentleman from the Department of

         18  Health to introduce himself, and his name just

         19  popped out of my head, so if you can introduce

         20  yourself for the record, and I'm sure you two

         21  decided who would speak first, so I'll just turn it

         22  over to you at this time.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 MR. EILER: Good afternoon, Chairman

         25  Comrie, members of the Consumer Affairs Committee
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          2  and Council Member Brewer.

          3                 I'm Andrew Eiler, Director of

          4  Legislation for the Department of Consumer Affairs.

          5  Commissioner Mince asked me to thank you for the

          6  opportunity to appear before you at your hearing on

          7  Intro. 57, relating to the sale of used mattresses

          8  to curb the spread of bed bugs.

          9                 Let me first convey that Commissioner

         10  Mince commends Council Member Brewer, her

         11  co-sponsors and the Committee, for focusing

         12  attention on and proposing steps to combat the bed

         13  bug infestation spreading in New York City.

         14                 Bed bugs are unsavory and unwelcome

         15  creatures that feast on the blood of humans, various

         16  birds and mammals and are transported in many ways

         17  from infested to non-infested areas. Implementing

         18  steps to substantially diminish the spreading of bed

         19  bugs is a clearly worthwhile and timely objective

         20  with the news about the growing infestation in New

         21  York City.

         22                 The bill before you would implement a

         23  two-part proposal for dealing with these pests.

         24                 I will confine my remarks to the

         25  provisions in the bill that would ban the sale of
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          2  used mattresses in New York City. I'm joined by

          3  Daniel Cast, Director of Environmental Surveillance

          4  and Policy at the Department of Health and Mental

          5  Hygiene, who can answer any questions you may have

          6  regarding the health aspects of the scope and nature

          7  of bed bug infestations that this measure seeks to

          8  curb.

          9                 By way of background about the scope

         10  of the Department's jurisdiction over and its

         11  involvement in the sale of used mattresses, I would

         12  note that sellers of used mattresses are required to

         13  obtain a second-hand dealers license from the

         14  Department.

         15                 The Department currently licenses

         16  3,795 second-hand dealers, not counting used car

         17  dealers.

         18                 Since except for used car dealers,

         19  second-hand dealer licenses are not restricted to

         20  specific types of goods sold, licensees are not

         21  required to inform the Department about the types of

         22  goods they sell.

         23                 The Department is therefore unaware

         24  of how many of its second-hand dealer licensees sell

         25  used mattresses.
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          2                 Article 25-A of the General Business

          3  Law does, however, require both manufacturers of new

          4  or used or reconditioned bedding and all sellers of

          5  used beddings to register with the Department of

          6  State.

          7                 The manufacturers and sellers of used

          8  bedding must also affirm with their registration

          9  that they sanitized used bedding in accordance with

         10  standards established and regulations adopted by the

         11  Department of State in consultation with the New

         12  York State Health Department.

         13                 The Department informs us that 261

         14  second-hand dealers are registered in the state. DCA

         15  estimates that about half of them are licensed to be

         16  operating in New York City.

         17                 Article 25 also requires that all

         18  used bedding be clearly identified by permanently

         19  attaching to it a yellow label containing a phrase

         20  used material, or used bedding, to clearly disclose

         21  that fact to buyers.

         22                 DCA inspectors enforce compliance

         23  with this requirement when they visit second-hand

         24  dealers selling mattresses.

         25                 While substantially curbing the
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          2  spreading infestation of bed bugs is a worthwhile

          3  and commendable objective, DCA lacks sufficient

          4  information identifying the mechanisms by which the

          5  infestation spread that would enable it to make a

          6  sound recommendation on whether banning the sale of

          7  used mattresses would materially contribute to the

          8  objective.

          9                 As the proposed legislative findings

         10  indicate, bed bug infestation can be spread by many

         11  different types of carriers, transported by various

         12  means and land on numerous kinds of objects where

         13  bed bugs can take up residence.

         14                 The DCA lacks the information that

         15  would enable us to reach a sound judgment about

         16  whether banning the sale of used mattresses would

         17  materially impact on the spread of these pests.

         18                 Although DCA does not know how

         19  effectively the ban would aid the effort to control

         20  the infestation, the banning of such sales could

         21  well impact heavily on bedding that could be

         22  available to low-income consumers.

         23                 A quick check of used sale outlets

         24  indicated that the Salvation Army, for example, was

         25  selling used mattresses for $40. By contrast, the
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          2  International Sleep Products Association and

          3  Manufacturers Trade Association indicated to us that

          4  new twin-size mattresses and foundation could cost

          5  $99 or somewhat less.

          6                 Queens size mattresses and

          7  foundations could sell for around $199. Mattresses

          8  without foundations would be priced somewhat lower.

          9                 There is consequently no escaping of

         10  fact that while $50 may not appear as a significant

         11  difference to some, it may be an unbridgeable gap to

         12  consumers with limited incomes.

         13                 The question DCA is unable to answer

         14  based on the facts at hand is whether imposing that

         15  cost burden on those least able to afford it brings

         16  with it commensurate benefits in diminishing the

         17  spread of bed bugs.

         18                 I can, however, suggest one step that

         19  may quickly produce more tangible benefits. In the

         20  course of our inquiries into this issue, we learned

         21  that the rules for setting this standard for

         22  sanitizing used mattresses that the Department of

         23  State was to adopt have still not been promulgated,

         24  even though the law providing for it was enacted

         25  about ten years ago.
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          2                 The Council may therefore consider

          3  urging that the Secretary of State promptly remedy

          4  this oversight.

          5                 Thank you, again, for this

          6  opportunity to comment on this bill. We look forward

          7  to working with the City Council to effectively

          8  combat New York City's growing problem with bed

          9  bugs, and are open to exploring different avenues of

         10  collaboration.

         11                 Mr. Cast and I will be pleased to

         12  answer your questions.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Mr. Cast, do you

         14  have an opening statement? Okay.

         15                 Mr. Eiler, can you just expound on

         16  that last opening statement that you said the

         17  Department of State has not set any standards for,

         18  or created the rules for setting the standards for

         19  sanitizing mattresses?

         20                 MR. EILER: Well, the only thing is we

         21  were informed by the Secretary of State staff that

         22  the rules were indeed supposed to have been

         23  promulgated, which set the standards to be followed

         24  by sellers of used mattresses, but they have not

         25  found that the rules have ever been created.
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          2  Therefore even bedding manufacturers, second-hand

          3  manufacturers and reconditioners are required to

          4  affirm with the registration that they sanitize

          5  mattresses according to the rules set by the

          6  Department, since there are no rules the

          7  certifications are relatively meaningless. I mean,

          8  that's where we got stopped.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right. So, that's

         10  a big problem, so even if people that would like to

         11  do it legitimately have no rules or no standards --

         12                 MR. EILER: There's no standards to

         13  follow, as we've been informed.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And that creates

         15  an opening for people to sell them any type of

         16  product --

         17                 MR. EILER: Although, they are

         18  required to label it with the permanent tag that's

         19  yellow and has the wording on it, and we do check

         20  for that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         22                 MR. EILER: The standards they're

         23  supposed to follow is the issue there.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You said earlier

         25  you've identified approximately how many particular
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          2  sellers, 261?

          3                 MR. EILER: Well, 261 are registered

          4  with the State. And our best guess is that about

          5  half of them would probably be operating within the

          6  City of New York, but our records don't show which

          7  ones they are because they don't identify what they

          8  sell.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right. But you

         10  would guess that most people that are selling

         11  mattresses for under $70 are probably selling

         12  second-hand or remanufactured products; correct?

         13                 Because you said earlier --

         14                 MR. EILER: Probably. If you're

         15  getting to the low end, like 70, 50 dollars, you're

         16  almost certainly selling reconditioned -- you're not

         17  talking about new mattresses.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         19                 And, so, would the Department of

         20  Consumer Affairs be the appropriate agency to send

         21  out notices to these people, or to the furniture

         22  sales and resales industry to think about doing more

         23  sanitizing or a different type of sanitizing?

         24                 MR. EILER: Well, what they are going

         25  to do and how to make sure that the proper
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          2  sanitizing procedures are followed, and, you know,

          3  we would need to explore just exactly how the bed

          4  bugs spread so we can put barriers in place that

          5  will prevent them from, like with mattresses or

          6  whatever, how those things could be more effectively

          7  prevented from being carriers. I mean, you know,

          8  carrying them from one place to another.

          9                 We're open to exploring whatever

         10  mechanisms can effectively be put in place that

         11  would effectively address the problem.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right. So, you

         13  believe this bill has a worthwhile endeavor and you

         14  could, we could try to work to create some kind of

         15  awareness around, hopefully after this hearing, to

         16  better opportunities for awareness and education,

         17  for all of the people, the sellers, the resellers

         18  and the public around this particular issue?

         19                 MR. EILER: There's no question it's

         20  timely that we address the topic. I mean, you know,

         21  in terms of exactly what are the most effective ways

         22  to achieve what we want to do is maybe open to

         23  question. And certainly we're willing to do whatever

         24  it takes there to explore those possibilities.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Do you get direct
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          2  complaints regarding the bed bugs, or is that all

          3  transferred to the Department?

          4                 MR. EILER: You know, I've sort of

          5  heard a couple complaints about somebody buying

          6  mattresses, finding bed bugs and then the question

          7  is who is responsible. We've had a couple that I

          8  sort of recall, but that's just purely anecdotal.

          9  It's not a survey or unfortunately our complaint

         10  system does not track bed bug complaints, so that we

         11  wouldn't be able to identify or call out how many

         12  such complaints we've had.

         13                 But I'm aware of a couple where we

         14  had the issue of consumers are complaining about it,

         15  they wanted their money back because of the bed bugs

         16  in the mattress they bought, and then the issue was,

         17  well, where did the bed buts come from. And so that

         18  was a question.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Well, the

         20  Department of Health then, how long can you tell us

         21  has the infestation taken route in a particular

         22  area? Is there a time left that you can identify

         23  from that?

         24                 MR. CAST: I think it's difficult, and

         25  I don't want to purport to be a pest control expert.
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          2  I think those might be questions that would be

          3  better answered by best control professionals.

          4                 I think it's quite difficult, there

          5  are a whole host of factors that influence the size,

          6  the speed of reproduction, and the extent of

          7  activity, including whether there have been blood

          8  meals recently, the temperature, humidity,

          9  opportunity for harborage and hiding. So, I don't

         10  think upon inspection you can make an easy

         11  determination about how long the infestation has

         12  been going on, but certainly signs when you inspect

         13  mattresses or couches or clothing or suitcases or

         14  other material, just how extensive it's been.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I just wanted to

         16  focus on DCA.

         17                 So, at this particular time, you

         18  don't have a direct enforcement arm at the

         19  Department of Consumer Affairs regarding the

         20  mattress industry and your appealing to us to reach

         21  out to the Department of State at least so they can

         22  promulgate the rules, or create rules, since they

         23  haven't been obviously done to do that. And I

         24  appreciate that feedback.

         25                 I want to turn this over to the

                                                            23

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  sponsor of the bill. I don't want to ask all the

          3  questions, and I'll come back and fill in. I'm sure

          4  Council Member Koppell has some questions as well. I

          5  don't want to take over the entire meeting yet. I'll

          6  let it go on for a little while.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: You always

          8  have good questions, Mr. Chairman.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: First of all,

         11  thank you for this research, Andy. I appreciate it.

         12                 Have you had any discussions with

         13  some of the other agencies?

         14                 I know this is not just your

         15  challenge, it's just across the board. Because even

         16  like the fact that, I know that 3-1-1 doesn't have

         17  bed bugs. Nobody is quite clear where those 3-1-1

         18  calls do go. Maybe we'll hear that from maybe the

         19  Health Department. But obviously, education would be

         20  something that you might be best equipped to do

         21  because you do it for other topics.

         22                 So, how have you met with other

         23  agencies? Or do you think that would be helpful to

         24  try to educate New Yorkers about this issue?

         25                 MR. EILER: Well, I think, you know, a
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          2  matter of coordinating a response would be certainly

          3  useful. We have not up to now focused on doing that

          4  at this point, because, frankly, your bill has

          5  focused attention on it, and we have not put in

          6  effect any program prior to this.

          7                 It hasn't really come to our

          8  attention because it wouldn't come to our attention,

          9  because the matter of bed bugs is not, except when

         10  it's a sale issue that they sold me an infested

         11  mattress, which would be in our jurisdiction, the

         12  issue of bed bugs is not really something the

         13  Department as such would deal with.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: For those

         15  companies, and I do agree with you, people need a

         16  less expensive mattress, and a lot of them enable

         17  people to purchase because they are less expensive.

         18  But of the say hundred or so that are in New York

         19  City that the Department of State supposedly

         20  regulates, do you visit those?

         21                 I mean, who does the oversight? I

         22  understand that the Department of State hasn't done

         23  its job in terms of -- I guess that would be Randy

         24  Daniels, in terms of following up to a previous law,

         25  but who is supposed to be sure that these companies
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          2  are meeting, I don't know, whatever they do in terms

          3  of reconditioning or providing opportunity for the

          4  future? Is that a State function or is that a City

          5  function?

          6                 MR. EILER: Well, the law governing a

          7  registration and sanitizing and all the rest of that

          8  stuff, that's basically the State law, and it's

          9  enforced by the Secretary of State's office. I

         10  contacted the office that handles it, and

         11  unfortunately the person, and they do inspect, I

         12  mean --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: The State

         14  inspects.

         15                 MR. EILER: The State is supposed to

         16  inspect, and unfortunately, the person responsible

         17  for doing that is out on vacation until today and so

         18  I was trying to get data on what the inspections are

         19  and what the findings are and so forth and so on,

         20  but I was not able to get that data. So, it will

         21  have to wait for another day.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         23                 But you have the list of all those

         24  who have a second-hand dealers license, so maybe you

         25  could compare that list with whatever you get from
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          2  the Department of State and then you know which ones

          3  of your second-hand dealers was in fact mattress, or

          4  at least that was part of their portfolio.

          5                 MR. EILER: That would definitely be

          6  the first step to finding out who was doing what in

          7  New York.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          9                 And then when you have that list,

         10  there is still nothing that we can do as a City, it

         11  has to be state in order to ensure that the

         12  mattresses are appropriately reconditioned.

         13                 MR. EILER: The sanitizing

         14  requirements are subject to the State law, and

         15  unfortunately, in the absence of the standard, I

         16  mean they're supposed to conform to standards that

         17  don't exist.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: No, I agree.

         19  And I appreciate. Because I think this is a good

         20  piece of information that we need to follow-up with.

         21  But I hope that as a City, we would also follow up

         22  with the Department of State because to me what's

         23  frightening is that, you know, people out there have

         24  this challenge in their homes, and I think as a

         25  body, as government, we need to start really

                                                            27

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  addressing it, so certainly with all of us to put

          3  pressure on the Department of State to follow their

          4  own regulations. So, I hope that you would do that

          5  in addition to the Council.

          6                 MR. EILER: Well, I have a feeling

          7  that they're aware of the issue at this point.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. All

          9  right, thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         11  Koppell.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: The State

         13  requires that where these second-hand dealers sell

         14  the mattresses they have to be reconditioned. That's

         15  State law, correct?

         16                 MR. EILER: Well, they have to be

         17  sanitized.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Sanitized.

         19  That's State law.

         20                 MR. EILER: That's State law.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And the

         22  sanitizing would cure the bed bug problem?

         23                 MR. EILER: That is a question you

         24  will have to defer to the other experts, because

         25  that's beyond my scope.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay. But

          3  assuming that it would, why could we not say as a

          4  consumer protection measure that second-hand dealers

          5  who sell sanitized -- well, who sell mattresses that

          6  are not sanitized are violating our laws or our

          7  regulations.

          8                 MR. EILER: That's certainly a

          9  possibility. You know, that piggy-back on the State

         10  law, that's correct.

         11                 That's an option.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: That would

         13  allow your people to enforce the law more clearly,

         14  wouldn't it?

         15                 MR. EILER: Well, that would give us a

         16  clearer, a mandate that we could base, you know,

         17  steps we could take with regard to compliance.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right. And I

         19  note that the legislation provides for the creation

         20  of a task force, and it seems to me that if the

         21  State isn't providing appropriate guidelines for

         22  sanitizing the mattressess, maybe the City could.

         23                 MR. EILER: Well, I don't want to get

         24  involved in the question because the State law

         25  exists, so I don't know how we could, you know, put
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          2  something in place with respect to the State law.

          3                 Clearly, however, effectiveness

          4  depends upon the standards being adopted that

          5  establish what they're supposed to do. Once we have

          6  those then we can go on from there.

          7                 You know, what I'm saying is there

          8  may be a preemption question involved here, but I

          9  don't want to address it right now.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No, I hear

         11  you. But certainly we could require the dealers in

         12  New York to comply with State law as a condition of

         13  their license, which I think we should do.

         14                 I mean, I take it you and your

         15  colleague who is there are not experts on the

         16  science of this matter.

         17                 MR. CAST: Decidedly not.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: You're not?

         19                 MR. CAST: No.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay.

         21                 I guess we'll hear later from people

         22  who can tell us about that. You also -- just one

         23  last question, because I suspect that part of the

         24  problem might be private sales.

         25                 MR. EILER: That's exempt from the
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          2  State law.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: That's

          4  exempt.

          5                 MR. EILER: That's correct.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But could

          7  that be subject to City law?

          8                 MR. EILER: Basically I'm quoting from

          9  memory here, but what's exempt as private sales and

         10  private residences is not covered by the State law,

         11  and those kind of sales would be awfully difficult

         12  to monitor. Almost impossible.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But we could

         14  require that when someone sells the mattress

         15  privately, that at least they have to give the

         16  warning to the buyer that they haven't been

         17  reconditioned.

         18                 MR. EILER: It's the same issue in

         19  terms of being able to monitor that kind of traffic

         20  or trade, because it's done by private word of mouth

         21  and so forth and so on.

         22                 There is even, you know, possibility

         23  that people throw their mattresses out and it's

         24  picked up on the street. It's all sorts of ways so

         25  that basically, normally our scope or our

                                                            31

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  jurisdiction deals with people in the business, and

          3  essentially when it's these private matters, even

          4  like used car dealers, where you have four or fewer

          5  sales a year, you're not covered. That's at the real

          6  margins of the area, and it would be tough.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I

          8  always used to be amused, and I haven't looked

          9  lately, but I used to buy a mattress that was always

         10  a tag on it, and it said removing this tag is a

         11  violation of law.

         12                 MR. EILER: Yes, exactly.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I've always

         14  wondered how many people were prosecuted for taking

         15  the tag off the mattress.

         16                 But I assume it had some value having

         17  that on the tag. So, similarly we could promulgate a

         18  requirement and make it known that when you sell a

         19  mattress, you have to tell people that, you know, it

         20  hasn't been sanitized.

         21                 MR. EILER: Certainly could be

         22  something to consider, and you know, and wouldn't

         23  say no to that. But I mean, you know, I'm just

         24  saying there are some pitfalls to making it work.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.
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          2                 We've been joined by Council Member

          3  Barron. Charles Barron from Brooklyn. Just a couple

          4  of questions before Council member.

          5                 The Department of Health gave us this

          6  nice brochure today; when was this generated?

          7                 MR. CAST: We put this out and posted

          8  it to our website just a couple of months ago in its

          9  final form. Although, we had an earlier draft posted

         10  over the last year and it reflects a collaboration

         11  with HPD in a project that we call Healthy Homes,

         12  that's addressing a variety of issues related to

         13  homes and pests and proper response.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So you've been

         15  getting complaints -- you have been tracking the

         16  complaints regarding the bed bug infestations?

         17                 MR. CAST: Traditionally the Health

         18  Department doesn't receive complaints directly.

         19  3-1-1 is instructed, at least for rental housing, to

         20  route complaints about bed bugs to HPD.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: HPD.

         22                 MR. CAST: Right.

         23                 But we do collaborate and cooperate.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, you have been

         25  already doing some collaboration with HPD and to try
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          2  and figure out where these infestations are and how

          3  to deal with them?

          4                 MR. CAST: Well, I think our

          5  collaboration has been principally focused on how to

          6  educate the public about a couple of issues that

          7  overlap the roles and the concerns of our

          8  Department. On one hand, you have concerns about

          9  whether landlords and tenants are taking the

         10  appropriate steps to hire professionals and do it

         11  well, and alert other people in their buildings that

         12  there could be risks.

         13                 On the health side, you know, our

         14  principle concern, as is true for a whole range of

         15  other pest responses, is ensuring that these matters

         16  are really handled by people who know how to do it,

         17  rather than by tenants themselves. We're concerned,

         18  and this reflects that, that this statute reflects

         19  our concerns that people not panic, resort to buying

         20  products off the shelf willy-nilly and using them in

         21  ways that are unsafe. Because that poses a totally

         22  more substantial risk than certainly bed bugs do.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes. But on here

         24  you talked about using pesticides in treating

         25  mattresses and sofas by supplying a small amount of
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          2  pesticides on the seams only. Pesticides should

          3  never be sprayed on top of mattresses or sofas. This

          4  kind of gives the individual the idea that they can

          5  go purchase a product that would be able to get rid

          6  of the bed bugs.

          7                 But you're saying that there is not

          8  an off-the-shelf pesticide that works, correct?

          9                 MR. CAST: Well, there are

         10  off-the-shelf products that are labeled for use for

         11  bed bugs.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: There are?

         13                 MR. CAST: Meaning that the EPA and

         14  the New York State Department of Environmental

         15  Conservation allow them to be used for bed bugs.

         16                 In general we would not advise

         17  residents to try to manage the use of pesticides at

         18  all on their own. And in fact, what we're really

         19  encouraging residents to recognize is that there are

         20  a variety, there are differing levels of expertise

         21  even in the pest control industry so that you would

         22  like tenants and landlords to be aware that they

         23  should really be vetting the skills of the pest

         24  control professionals that they hire to make sure

         25  they're doing the right thing.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So then you would

          3  agree with me that this flyer needs to be redone

          4  then? Because it seems to give the individual the

          5  idea that they could eliminate the problem

          6  themselves, technically it's very difficult for an

          7  individual to eliminate this particular problem

          8  themselves. You know, if you're giving them the idea

          9  that they could use some off-the-shelf pesticides to

         10  do this, if it says advising them to stay out of the

         11  room, use the instructions and warnings on the

         12  product labels, treating mattresses and sofas by

         13  applying it, if it's something that should be done

         14  professionally, maybe we should eliminate that from

         15  the flyer.

         16                 What kind of distribution has this

         17  flyer gotten?

         18                 MR. CAST: Well, it's been distributed

         19  to our District Public Health Offices. I think it's

         20  on-hand at HPD. It's in our various offices around

         21  the City, and it's posted on the website for people

         22  to use.

         23                 I think in fairness, we do make very

         24  clear under the heading how could it get rid of bed

         25  bugs, that we recommend that home-owners hire pest
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          2  control professionals to do this work.

          3                 That said, it's the judgment of the

          4  pesticide regulators which we are not allowed to do

          5  in New York City the private applications, it's

          6  their judgment that they allow pesticides on the

          7  market for these things.

          8                 And in conversations with residents,

          9  we recognize that people sort of will do anything

         10  and resort to anything, and so we're trying to give

         11  very judicious advice about what they should or

         12  should not do.

         13                 We don't believe that the advice

         14  offered here puts residents in danger.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. But this is

         16  still a work-in-progress, clearly.

         17                 Has there been a consensus by your

         18  Department, HPD, or what is an effective treatment

         19  methodology?

         20                 MR. CAST: Again, we're not pest

         21  control experts and we don't provide that level of

         22  specific advice to people. But we really encourage

         23  people to do, and this is true not just for bed bugs

         24  but for cockroaches and all other pests, is to

         25  evaluate their pest control professionals to make
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          2  sure that they know what they're doing, providing

          3  the right sort of service.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So is that type

          5  of evaluation being requested or deliberated to sort

          6  of come up with a methodology? Or is that still

          7  something that we haven't gotten to yet, as far as

          8  the City's response is concerned?

          9                 MR. CAST: Well, I think that the pest

         10  control professionals themselves are really

         11  grappling with what the right and appropriate

         12  responses are, and I think they are -- I would be

         13  hardpressed to imagine that there is a one-size fits

         14  all protocol for bed bug response.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         16                 MR. CAST: There have been a number of

         17  national and international meetings recently that

         18  includes pest control professionals, and I think a

         19  lot of people are really grappling with this.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: What do you think

         21  has caused this explosion all of a sudden? And of so

         22  much -- all of a sudden in the last few years we've

         23  tripled and quadrupled these complaints and these

         24  incidences of bed bugs; what do you think has led to

         25  the source of that?
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          2                 MR. CAST: I only know what I read in

          3  the literature, both in the Popular and the

          4  Professional and the Scientific literature. Again, I

          5  don't know that there is a consensus on what

          6  precisely explains it. I think it is multifactoral.

          7  I think that there is evidence that some

          8  infestations are associated with furniture-related

          9  acquisition. Many others are associated with travel.

         10  Many more have no discernible identification of how

         11  bed bugs are introduced into the environment.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. I just

         13  wanted to get just from you an idea, the

         14  collaboration on this is still in development, in

         15  other words, and you're still working with HPD to do

         16  better outreach to specific communities on how to

         17  make sure that this flyer is even distributed in a

         18  wider outreach, correct?

         19                 MR. CAST: We are.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         21                 Council Member Brewer.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, thank

         23  you very much.

         24                 I guess I want to ask a little bit

         25  more about the collection of data. I know you
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          2  indicated that when one calls 3-1-1, it goes to HPD,

          3  and I also know that many people call anonymously.

          4  But my question is, in order to understand this, are

          5  you working with HPD or other agencies to put

          6  together some kind of a computer map, even if the

          7  calls -- maybe if they're not anonymous? Is there

          8  some -- I'm concerned because I just don't know that

          9  -- I feel sometimes we're talking, and we're having

         10  this hearing today, but I just don't know if the

         11  data is being collected so that we see what a

         12  pervasive challenge this is and problem in our City.

         13  And I think that also there is a mental health

         14  aspect to this. People really get freaked out, and

         15  that is Health Department. But the education portion

         16  is something that I know you're very good at doing.

         17  So, one aspect of this legislation is to have a

         18  much, much tighter intra-agency discussion. I know

         19  you have been talking to HPD. I know the flyer is a

         20  result of that. But there are other agencies that

         21  involved with this, Buildings Department, others

         22  kinds of inspectors, and I think what is clear to me

         23  today is you have done a lot of research, but nobody

         24  knows quite how to address it. The fact of the

         25  matter is, we must address this.
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          2                 So, I want to know if you're working

          3  with the other agencies to collect the data on the

          4  3-1-1 calls, and I want to know if you have even

          5  things like -- in San Francisco there was a big

          6  education campaign on people having a choice, metal

          7  or wood frames for beds. We've learned that bed bugs

          8  can hide in the wood. Now, some people may choose

          9  wood, but they should know as an educated consumer,

         10  they should know that those are some of the

         11  challenges.

         12                 That kind of education has not been

         13  done. It has been done in San Francisco. So, that's

         14  an intra-agency discussion, both collecting the

         15  3-1-1 data is intra-agency, and also doing a much

         16  better education campaign. I'm just wondering if you

         17  can comment on those two?

         18                 MR. CAST: Well, our collaboration

         19  continues, and I think we can certainly look at the

         20  question of whether or how 3-1-1 complaints are

         21  distributed?

         22                 I think as others have indicated,

         23  including yourself, there is no clear pattern or

         24  neighborhood that is particularly at risk, at least

         25  that I'm aware of. I think this is happening across
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          2  the board for all kinds of people in all kinds of

          3  settings.

          4                 But I think we welcome the idea of

          5  doing sort of always better and improved education.

          6  I think this is a revolving issue. Bed bugs have

          7  been reintroduced relatively recently. I think that

          8  all of us are trying to pull together the best

          9  available advice and provide it to people.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And how will

         11  you go about looking at this 3-1-1 data? Do you work

         12  on it as an intra-agency project?

         13                 MR. CAST: I'll have to get back to

         14  you on that. We've been having regular meetings. It

         15  could certainly be a subject at the meeting.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We've been joined

         18  by Council Member Jim Gennaro, Chair of our

         19  Environmental Protection Committee. And Council

         20  Member Barron has some questions.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: First I just

         22  have a curiosity question. Is the scientific moniker

         23  is it called a Cimex lectularius?  Is that how you

         24  pronounce it? Cimex lectularius, is that what they

         25  call the bed bugs?
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          2                 MR. CAST: Given my expertise, I know

          3  that's how you spell it, I'm not positive that's how

          4  it's pronounced.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Okay.

          6                 And I noticed that the entomologist

          7  and the exterminators and some people at HPD list as

          8  one of the possible reasons for the increase is

          9  immigration trends? Immigration trends is listed as

         10  one of the possible reasons for the increase. Have

         11  you heard that?

         12                 MR. CAST: I don't know what that is

         13  typically characterized as. Again, a lot of these

         14  reports are anecdotal. People cite as one possible

         15  explanation the greater mobility of people. But I

         16  have heard international travel referred to.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: International

         18  travel.  It has immigration trends, which I think is

         19  rather xenophobic and racist to bring up immigration

         20  trends, and that's a cute way of saying, you know,

         21  with immigration, more people of color and

         22  international travel, I could understand that, but

         23  immigration trends is also listed as one of the

         24  reasons why this increase in the Cimex lectularius,

         25  the bed bugs, and I just find that to be very

                                                            43

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  xenophobic and racist. But you didn't hear nothing

          3  about that?

          4                 MR. CAST: No.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: And what about

          6  the aerosol spray, I think is Pyrethrin, they're

          7  saying that that really works well. Not for the eggs

          8  but for the bugs themselves. Do you have any

          9  information on that?

         10                 MR. CAST: There are a number of

         11  products that are labeled as able to be used against

         12  them, pyrethrin, synthetic pyrethroids are one of

         13  the classes of products that can be used for bed

         14  bugs.

         15                 Again, this is sort of out of our

         16  realm of expertise.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I know you

         18  keep saying that, but just as we have to consult

         19  experts, why is that out of your realm? Not that you

         20  should be the expert but at least be consulting the

         21  experts so that you can tell, yes, this is what the

         22  experts are saying and based upon our research from

         23  different kinds of experts that we, in fact, think

         24  that these things need to happen. These are some of

         25  the causes of it, and this is some of the
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          2  prevention, and this is some of the treatment that

          3  we should move toward as a City, because it's not

          4  enough to just say we're not the experts, none of us

          5  are. But I think we can know what the experts know

          6  by talking to the experts.

          7                 MR. CAST: I agree. There are a

          8  variety of pest control professional associations.

          9  All good pest control decisions are made specific to

         10  the circumstances at hand. And, so, we defer in a

         11  lot of ways to the industry itself to make

         12  determinations on a case-by-case basis in accordance

         13  with federal and State pesticide registration laws

         14  which product to use.

         15                 I think that's all I'm really trying

         16  to say.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: And for the

         18  recycling of the mattresses, do you think -- I don't

         19  know if you would know whether that's a major cause

         20  of it, or international -- which one of the factors

         21  do you think is creating the increase more than

         22  another, or you just don't know?

         23                 MR. CAST: I don't think we really

         24  know.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: All right.
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          2  Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: A question. You

          4  said that right now that 3-1-1 calls go to HPD, and

          5  our staff was unable to get any statistics presently

          6  or since 2005. Can you explain why that's happening?

          7                 MR. CAST: I think someone will have

          8  to get back to you. Again, we don't, at the Health

          9  Department, receive 3-1-1 complaints.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. I think

         11  that that's something that we'll definitely formally

         12  request. But also, I think that we're going to have

         13  to formally request, Council Member Brewer, that

         14  3-1-1 does put some statistics together regarding

         15  where the complaints are from, and make a clearer

         16  line of command as to where these complaints should

         17  go.

         18                 You know, this is an issue that I

         19  think should go to the Department of Health first,

         20  other than HPD first. I'm not sure why they're doing

         21  it to HPD first. If the Department of Health has to

         22  send -- well, who does the inspection? Is there an

         23  inspection done by the City or is it all left to the

         24  private home-owner to contact the exterminators?

         25                 MR. CAST: I think in the instance
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          2  where it's a matter of tenant-landlord relations

          3  falls to HPD. The Health Department will not inspect

          4  for bed bugs, because we don't consider a core

          5  public health issue around which we have a lot to be

          6  able to --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Say that again,

          8  sir?

          9                 MR. CAST: The Health Department does

         10  not inspect for bed bugs.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You don't think

         12  it's a health issue, is that what you said?

         13                 MR. CAST: What we believe is this is

         14  not a core public issue. They're not responsible for

         15  infectious disease. While I absolutely agree that on

         16  a case-by-case basis they can be incredibly

         17  aggravating in a mental health issue, this is not --

         18  this has not been a Health Department issue, except

         19  in the instance where we have awareness that there

         20  is a rapid spread in the building with lots of units

         21  affected in which case HPD will let us know and

         22  there are joint commissioner's orders or letters in

         23  those instances.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: That's

         25  enlightening.
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          2                 Are you aware of the stationhouse

          3  infestation of the bed bugs, or was Department of

          4  Health aware and involved in the eradication of that

          5  problem, or was it all done within the Police

          6  Department?

          7                 MR. CAST: The Health Department, to

          8  my knowledge, was not involved.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So you're saying

         10  that because -- what makes the determination of a

         11  health issue? Because it's not infectious? Because

         12  they're not infectious it's not considered a health

         13  issue?

         14                 MR. CAST: That's one factor. And

         15  probably the most important, yes. It's neither

         16  infectious, nor is it associated with a secondary

         17  disease in the same way that other pests and vermin

         18  are.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But there is a

         20  lot of mental stress and emotional stress behind

         21  finding out that your home would be, you know, has

         22  this infestation. Would the Department of Mental

         23  Health get involved with this? Or do you have an

         24  office that provides some kind of assistance to

         25  people that have an infestation?
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          2                 Because I'm concerned that the

          3  consumer that has this that calls up Ray's Pest

          4  Control may not have, out of the yellow book or the

          5  yellow pages, has no template for knowing that this

          6  person has the credibility, the expertise or the

          7  understanding to deal with this problem. Since it is

          8  a specialized type of treatment, and it's not an

          9  easy treatment from what I've read. You know, is

         10  there anything that the City is doing to some

         11  recommended practices, other than what's on this

         12  specific form, or talking to people about their

         13  stress level, if they find out that their home is

         14  all of a sudden infested with bed bugs?

         15                 MR. CAST: We will always talk to

         16  people, and we do respond to requests for

         17  discussions, talks, presentations, to community

         18  meetings about this and other pest control subjects

         19  where we make clear that there are a variety of

         20  levels of quality pest control and we give advice

         21  about how best to evaluate it.

         22                 It's in that spirit really that fact

         23  sheet was offered to try to educate the consumer and

         24  the homeowner about how to handle this.

         25                 For the most part bed bugs are an
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          2  issue that requires a pest control professional, and

          3  in instances where it's a landlord tenant issue, it

          4  requires dealing at the housing level. But as I

          5  mentioned, we are always open to new and refreshing

          6  ideas about how best to educate the public about how

          7  to handle it.

          8                 We try to emphasize prevention,

          9  surveillance, meaning how to kind of inspect and

         10  then how to make good evaluations about how best to

         11  control it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, my able

         13  counsel is telling me that exterminators are not now

         14  presently licensed by DCA?

         15                 MR. EILER: No. But I do believe

         16  they're licensed under the State. They're not

         17  operating free-bee, but it's not subject to our

         18  licensing.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I think that's an

         20  area that we might want to look into dealing with

         21  licensing and expertise, as opposed to leaving it to

         22  the State?

         23                 MR. EILER: Well, I think obviously to

         24  look at the issue of whatever the regulations are,

         25  and whether they adequately address the issues at
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          2  hand, I mean that's always worth exploring. But, you

          3  know, I don't know what the scope of that is, and I

          4  don't want to make any definitive statements.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I understand,

          6  you're not keen on starting another regulatory

          7  issue. But I'm starting to believe that it may be

          8  something that we need to look at as course of

          9  within the overall discussion on how to deal with

         10  this particular problem. You know, if there's not a

         11  treatment mode that's been proven, we'll find out a

         12  little later today hopefully, but anyway, that's

         13  something we might need to look at as part of the

         14  overall discussion.

         15                 I'm concerned that an individual may,

         16  such as the article that was in the Post, I believe,

         17  where people use gasoline and June 30th, 2006, there

         18  was an article by Stephanie Gaskle (phonetic), who

         19  is not here, but firefighters responded to reports

         20  of gas odors in several Queens apartments, only to

         21  find that the residents soak their mattresses with

         22  gasoline to kill bed bugs. You know, there's clearly

         23  a disconnect between what people need to do to

         24  resolve this issue, and most effective terms. I

         25  think that that's something that we need to take a
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          2  look at.

          3                 Thank you, Shula, for providing me

          4  with a copy of the article today, and Thomas and

          5  Brian also.

          6                 You know, there's clearly a

          7  disconnect, and we need to do better in information

          8  outflow to people, but we also need to, obviously

          9  from what you're saying, a better methodology to

         10  deal with, correct?

         11                 MR. CAST: Well, I would just say

         12  around the question of regulating exterminators and

         13  extermination practices, that's a state issue. I

         14  think most activity in New York City around

         15  regulation of extermination and pesticide use is

         16  preempted by State law.

         17                 There are certainly ways to deal with

         18  this in a better way, and I think public education

         19  is a real critical component.

         20                 I do note that under New York State

         21  Department of Environmental Conservation licensure

         22  requirements for exterminators, there are continuing

         23  education requirements, or points on a license, and

         24  there are a variety of entities, private, otherwise

         25  who are beginning to offer courses and bed bug
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          2  eradication, and that may well be an area that we

          3  can encourage the State to really promote, to try to

          4  improve practices.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I don't think we

          6  should just wait on the State to do some things.

          7                 I think one of the reasons why

          8  Council Member Brewer wanted to hold this year was

          9  to highlight the problem or get more into it

         10  systemically, and once we talk to some of the

         11  professionals that have been dealing with it, but I

         12  think that we cannot just depend on State action

         13  here.

         14                 We have a responsibility as City

         15  legislators. One of the things that I know

         16  constantly frustrates me particularly, is to find

         17  out that you have to defer to other agencies or

         18  other entities, to get something done to protect

         19  consumers. So, I'm kind of railing at that thought

         20  of it already, that we have to depend on the state

         21  to take action on this. But I think, clearly, as far

         22  as public outreach, we need to be able to do better.

         23                 Councilwoman Brewer.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         25  much. Just in follow-up to that, as an example, in
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          2  one building I think the owner didn't know, and so

          3  hired, and I have great respect for exterminators,

          4  but the person who came did not have the expertise

          5  in our City and the building was incorrectly

          6  exterminated for bed bugs, and they ended up with

          7  more bed bugs than what they started with.

          8                 So, I'm just saying, I believe that

          9  we need to educate the professionals, we need to

         10  educate the residents and owners. This is a joint,

         11  even the cable companies which is now in an internet

         12  age, bed bugs are traveling, we all want Internet,

         13  we all want fast service, there is more and more of

         14  it.

         15                 I don't know if they're part of your

         16  intra or inter-task force, but they need to be. And

         17  listening to this hearing, I have great respect for

         18  you as professionals, but I don't think we get a

         19  feeling from the mapping of 3-1-1 data that needs to

         20  be done to the issue of prevention. We're not

         21  focusing enough. And mental health is a real

         22  concern. There is a panic that one might end up with

         23  bed bugs, and there is a panic when you have bed

         24  bugs, particularly if you don't have the means to

         25  hire an extremely good exterminator, and financially
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          2  pay for that.

          3                 You'll see that the courts, I think,

          4  judges need to be involved, some of the

          5  administrative judges, because they have so many

          6  cases without any resolution.

          7                 And this is something that, you know,

          8  in San Francisco, for instance, they had, maybe

          9  you've done this, training for all employees on bed

         10  bug infestations, everyone who is doing inspections.

         11  They had talked to people about caulking cracks in

         12  following treatment, they allow no items to be

         13  removed from infested space before treatment, and

         14  they talked a lot about what happens with mattresses

         15  on the street, how people should or should not

         16  dispose of them. They said avoid purchasing used

         17  furniture, at least until we get a handle on this

         18  bed bug issue. They talked about metal frames

         19  instead of wood frames.

         20                 Now, some of that is in your

         21  material, but it's not part of the daily discussion.

         22  People would have to go to your website and it's not

         23  something that we're really talking about.

         24                 I do want to ask Mr. Cast about

         25  inspections. DOH does inspections for many different
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          2  kinds of pests. Do you do inspections for bed bugs?

          3  And you must have that in some kind of a database

          4  when people have called for that kind of inspection.

          5                 MR. CAST: We don't inspect for bed

          6  bugs, and to my knowledge, I'll check on whether we

          7  have tracked at all any calls to us. Again, the

          8  majority of calls that I think were received by the

          9  City are by tenants looking for help, and trying to

         10  get orders from landlords to exterminate.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm just

         12  saying on a building on 94th Street, my

         13  understanding is there was an inspector staff on the

         14  Department of Health just focusing on bed bugs. Now,

         15  that may or may not be true, but there was an

         16  example that we believe that somebody has come out

         17  to do that. So, if you don't do inspections for bed

         18  bugs, the question is should you do inspections for

         19  bed bugs? Or should that just be DOH? Shouldn't

         20  people be more cross trained so that there is an

         21  understanding as to what the resident, you know,

         22  should be doing?

         23                 That's what I'm saying, is that we

         24  need to do much more tracking of 3-1-1, as the

         25  Chairman indicated, where we have a GIS so that
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          2  people know where the infestations are.

          3                 We need to do a lot more education of

          4  our own personnel and professionals and residents,

          5  and we certainly need to, I think, figure out some

          6  kind of legislation, certainly picking up on what

          7  Council Member Koppell said, that might be an

          8  example with the mattresses, but this is a good

          9  discussion, it's an open discussion, but it isn't, I

         10  don't think, satisfactorily answering the question

         11  of how do we get rid of bed bugs in the City of New

         12  York?

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         15  Koppell.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Just one

         17  other question, Mr. Eiler.

         18                 Is there any prohibition on selling

         19  any used items? Is that in the law with respect to

         20  anything? Or would this be unique?

         21                 MR. EILER: I'm not sure what

         22  prohibition.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, this

         24  law proposes prohibition on selling used or

         25  reconditioned mattresses. It says reconditioned, but
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          2  I think it's intended to say used as well.

          3                 MR. EILER: Right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Is there any

          5  such prohibition in the law right now that you're

          6  aware of on any product?

          7                 MR. EILER: Banning the sale of it?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes. Used.

          9                 MR. EILER: Oh, used. Nothing comes to

         10  mind off-hand. I mean, you know, if you can't sell

         11  it new, you can't sell it used either. So, like --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No, I'm

         13  talking about if there is any precedent for saying

         14  that the product is inherently so potentially

         15  dangerous, or --

         16                 MR. EILER: Well, there's a ban on

         17  imitation guns. I mean --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Imitation

         19  guns, yes.

         20                 MR. EILER: Right.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No, I'm

         22  talking about used. Something that because it's

         23  used, it is therefore not reliable any more. Is

         24  there any such ban?

         25                 MR. EILER: Not based on the fact that
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          2  it's used. That in itself bans its sale. I'm not

          3  aware of anything. There is some limitations --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: For instance,

          5  I don't mean to make a joke or anything, but, you

          6  know, can one sell all kinds of used garments? Or is

          7  there any prohibition on the sale of any used

          8  garments?

          9                 MR. EILER: I'm not sure, I don't

         10  think that there is a ban on the sale of garments. I

         11  mean, maybe under garments.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But what

         13  about that? Is there a ban or not?

         14                 MR. EILER: Not that I know of. I'm

         15  not aware of one.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay.

         17                 MR. EILER: But that's not to say that

         18  there may not be.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I think

         20  it would be interesting, maybe you could ask the

         21  people in your Department if there are any such --

         22  because if this is clearly a unique precedent, I'm

         23  not saying we shouldn't do it, but if there is a

         24  precedent, it might make it more comfortable to do

         25  it. So, I would be interested to know whether there
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          2  is any precedent.

          3                 MR. EILER: Well, I mean, for example,

          4  there is a ban on a sale of certain kind of recapped

          5  tires.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: That's a good

          7  example.

          8                 MR. EILER: Basically certain used

          9  tires or certain kinds of recapped tires or certain

         10  kinds of regrooved tires that are banned for sale

         11  because they're inherently unsafe. I don't think

         12  it's a City one, I think it's a State law.

         13                 And I'm sure that there may be others

         14  along those lines. If they're not, they're not very

         15  common.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right. But

         17  nonetheless, using, you know, your opposition to

         18  this is, well, if we ban these mattresses then

         19  people won't be able to get really cheap mattresses,

         20  and that's fair enough. I'm sympathetic to that

         21  view. On the other hand, we don't want people buying

         22  mattresses that cause difficulties.

         23                 So, I was just curious, the recapped

         24  tires, one could say, well, people should be able to

         25  buy those, too, they'd be very cheap, but, of

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  course, they're dangerous. So, are they all

          3  dangerous? Only some of them are dangerous? You know

          4  what I'm saying?

          5                 MR. EILER: Well, I think when you're

          6  getting to the regrooved tires, and it's been almost

          7  down to the, like almost bald, and then I think what

          8  happened many, many years ago, which brought the law

          9  in place, people just put, you know, grooved them a

         10  little bit, and then essentially they're inherently

         11  unsafe because they're essentially bald tires that

         12  would blow out on the road. And that's what caused

         13  them to be banned.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.

         15                 MR. EILER: So, of course, that's

         16  inherently dangerous and there the trade off is easy

         17  to make, because the accidents that were created by

         18  tires blowing out when they shouldn't even be on the

         19  road, more than outweigh the cheaper prices for

         20  which you could buy them, so there it was easy.

         21                 But I guess the point is, we're not

         22  here to oppose, but we're here to sort of raise the

         23  issue, whether the cost is worth the benefit. I

         24  mean, that's the question we can't answer at this

         25  point.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I would

          3  appreciate, it would be helpful, we'll look into it

          4  as well, but it would be helpful to know whether

          5  there are other examples. I think you came up with

          6  an interesting one. It's not exactly analogous, as

          7  you point out, but it is an example. I mean, if we

          8  found that large numbers of used mattresses were

          9  spreading the bed bugs, I think that it would be

         10  appropriate certainly, and that's the sponsors view,

         11  and I'm sympathetic to that view, even though it

         12  would mean perhaps that people would not be able to

         13  buy a cheap mattress, as cheap a mattress.

         14                 So, it's the same thing as

         15  infestation, if something were disease-carrying you

         16  wouldn't say, well, they should be able to buy it

         17  because it's cheaper, well the bed bugs are kind of

         18  a disease. It depends on how widespread the problem

         19  is.

         20                 MR. EILER: It's a fact-driven

         21  question.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, Councilman

         24  Koppell.

         25                 I don't have any more questions for
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          2  this panel at this particular time. I want to thank

          3  you for coming and sharing with us your views and

          4  opinions, and I look forward to talking with you. I

          5  hope that you put down our suggestions and see what

          6  we can do about expanding the outreach, and I hope

          7  to work with you both on that. Thank you.

          8                 MR. EILER: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: The next panel,

         10  Mr. Richard Pollack, from the Harvard School of

         11  Public Health, coming to us from Boston, and Mr.

         12  Louis Sorkin, from the American Museum of Natural

         13  History.

         14                 And Mr. Pollack, you have the

         15  PowerPoint presentation for us?

         16                 DR. POLLACK: I do. Would you like me

         17  to read my remarks into the record?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes. Yes. Thank

         19  you.

         20                 DR. POLLACK: All right, thank you.

         21                 Councilman Comrie, thank you for the

         22  invitation to provide comment before the New York

         23  City Council Consumer Affairs Committee hearing on

         24  bed bug issues.

         25                 I offer my views as a public health
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          2  entomologist at the Harvard School of Public Health.

          3  I have studied and worked with diverse medically

          4  relevant arthropods for several decades and on four

          5  continents. These efforts include laboratory and

          6  field investigations with bed bugs and their close

          7  relatives.

          8                 I have served as willing host to bed

          9  bugs in the laboratory, and as an unwilling one in

         10  certain hospitality establishments. I've consulted

         11  with and provided invited presentations on bed bugs

         12  to various federal, State and municipal health and

         13  housing agencies and organizations and to industry

         14  groups.

         15                 My testimony is at the request of

         16  this Committee, and my comments are free of any

         17  commercial interests.

         18                 My educational website, devoted to

         19  bed bug biology and management issues is one of the

         20  most prominent non-commercial sites on this topic,

         21  and I invite members of this Committee to refer to

         22  that site for guidance. You provided a list of

         23  questions for me to consider, I shall now briefly

         24  respond to these.

         25                 First, what health risks are
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          2  associated with bed bugs? Bed bugs are small,

          3  wingless insects that feed solely upon the blood of

          4  warm-blooded animals. These bugs seek out people and

          5  animals generally at night while these hosts are

          6  asleep, and painlessly sip a few drops of blood.

          7  While feeding they inject a tiny amount of their

          8  saliva into the skin. Repeated exposures to bed bug

          9  bites during a period of several weeks or more

         10  causes people to become sensitized to the saliva of

         11  these bugs. Additional bites may result in mild to

         12  intense allergic responses that manifest hours to

         13  many days after the actual insult.

         14                 The skin lesion produced by the bite

         15  of a bed bug resembles those caused by many other

         16  kinds of blood-feeding insects, such as mosquitoes

         17  and fleas.

         18                 The offending insect, therefore, can

         19  rarely be identified by the appearance of these

         20  bites. A physician should be consulted to rule out

         21  other causes for the lesions and to offer treatment

         22  as needed.

         23                 The affected person should resist the

         24  urge to scratch the bite, as this may intensify the

         25  irritation and lead to secondary infection.
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          2                 Physicians may treat patients with

          3  antihistamines and corticocosteroids to reduce

          4  allergic reactions and inflammation.

          5                 Despite reports to the contrary, bed

          6  bugs are not known to transmit any infectious

          7  agents.

          8                 Second, what might explain a

          9  resurgence of bed bugs? Bed bugs and their relatives

         10  occur nearly world-wide. They became relatively

         11  scarce during the latter part of the 20th century,

         12  but their populations have resurged in recent years,

         13  particularly throughout North America, Europe and

         14  Australia. Several theories have been proposed to

         15  explain this resurgence, but none of these is fully

         16  satisfying.

         17                 Their return to early mid-20th

         18  century levels has been attributed to a supposed

         19  increase in international travel and immigration.

         20                 Others have speculated that bed bug

         21  populations were suppressed during the latter half

         22  of the 1900s by the extensive use of broad spectrum

         23  insecticides applied regularly to homes and

         24  apartments to manage these are other urban pests.

         25                 Increasing use of baited insecticides
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          2  and traps for getting cockroaches may have relaxed

          3  the pressure of the bed bug population.

          4                 Additionally, the emergency of

          5  resistance by bed bugs to certainly commonly-used

          6  insecticides may further explain in part the

          7  observed phenomenon of their resurgence.

          8                 Three. What legislative options exist

          9  to fight bed bugs?

         10                 Few legislative experts have been

         11  pursued to battle these bugs.

         12                 Boston's Housing Authority enforces

         13  regulations of the Massachusetts Department of

         14  Public Health, that's Massachusetts 105 CMR410,

         15  entitled "Minimum Standards of Fitness for Human

         16  Habitation," It's part of the State Sanitary Code,

         17  Chapter 2. Particularly Section 410.550,

         18  Extermination of Insects, Rodents and Skunks, that

         19  specify actions required by owner occupants, tenants

         20  or agents of properties.

         21                 In practice, reports by residents may

         22  initiate a visit by Boston inspectional services

         23  personnel. Discovery of an infestation is documented

         24  in writing, and this report triggers a formal

         25  process requiring the property owner or manager to
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          2  file with the City a written Integrated Pest

          3  Management or IPM plan, detailing actions that will

          4  be performed by licensed pest control by pest

          5  management professionals, property managers, and

          6  tenants and residents.

          7                 Follow-up inspections may be

          8  performed until the case has been closed.

          9                 Beyond the scope of these

         10  regulations, inspectors periodically canvas

         11  neighborhoods, particularly during college move-in

         12  and move-out periods, and deface discarded

         13  mattresses and other furniture they consider likely

         14  to be infested.

         15                 San Francisco's Health Code, Article

         16  11, Section 581, has just been amended with detailed

         17  requirements and guidelines for building owners,

         18  tenants and pest control operators. Amongst the

         19  numerous efforts specified, building owners must

         20  train staff members to identify and prevent bed

         21  bugs, respond to complaints within 48 hours, act

         22  within 72 hours and maintain detailed records.

         23                 Tenants are responsible to report

         24  infestations, eliminate clutter and garbage and

         25  cooperate with management. A State licensed pest
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          2  control company is required to treat all crevices

          3  and other sites where bed bugs may occur. Infested

          4  clothes are to be bagged and washed in hot water,

          5  and furniture and mattresses are to be treated,

          6  labeled as potentially infested, and secured before

          7  disposal/destruction.

          8                 Properties not in compliance may be

          9  treated by or at the direction of the City with

         10  costs billed to the owners.

         11                 Back in Boston, a Community Action

         12  Group, the Allston Brighten Community Development

         13  Corporation, have paid funds from State legislators,

         14  private sources, to support the Allston Brighton

         15  Eradication Initiative.

         16                 This effort provides education and

         17  assistance to tenants and property owners affected

         18  by bed bug infestations. Property owners may receive

         19  up to $200 per unit to subsidize costs of treatment.

         20  Previously funds were available to subsidize the

         21  cost of replacement mattresses, a strategy that may

         22  have actually been counterproductive.

         23                 Legislative action may offer

         24  promising aiding efforts to abate current

         25  infestations to reduce opportunities for bed bugs to
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          2  spread to new sites. The Boston and San Francisco

          3  regulations should be scrutinized with the aim of

          4  adopting those rules that would likely be most

          5  effective and practical in New York City.

          6                 Specifically regulations and

          7  appropriations should be considered that mandate and

          8  facilitate inspections of properties with reported

          9  infestations, written IPM requirements, training and

         10  certification of pest management personnel relevant

         11  to identification of bed bugs, and compliance with

         12  IPM procedures.

         13                 Means to ensure that used mattresses

         14  and furniture have been suitably disinfected prior

         15  to their resale, and securing of infested items

         16  destined for disposal to prevent spread of bed bugs

         17  to other residences.

         18                 Furthermore, in light of recent

         19  reports that some populations of bed bugs are

         20  resistant to certain insecticides, New York City

         21  authorities should reevaluate the current arsenal of

         22  insecticides authorized for use there, support

         23  efforts to ensure these products are efficacious

         24  against local bed bug populations, and weigh the

         25  risks and benefits of augmenting the spectrum of
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          2  pesticides and their permissible use.

          3                 Should New York City authorities ban

          4  the sale of second-hand mattresses? Whereas

          5  mattresses and box springs are amongst the most

          6  frequently and heavily infested items within a

          7  residence, bed bugs can, and do often, hide in and

          8  deposit their eggs on bedsprings, nightstands,

          9  dressers, desks, sofas, picture frames and wall

         10  hangings, rugs and diverse other items in home or

         11  apartment.

         12                 Restricting the sale or exchange of

         13  used mattresses might slow the rising tide of bed

         14  bug infestations, but it is doubtful that the

         15  strategy will effectively stem the flow.

         16                 As long as used mattresses have

         17  value, they will remain a commodity, despite

         18  attempts to regulate their movements. The sale of

         19  used mattresses is already regulated in many

         20  jurisdictions. These regulations specify which

         21  components may be reused and which must be new, the

         22  manner in which the mattress must be sanitized and

         23  the characteristics, size, color and text, of the

         24  mattress label.

         25                 To what extent the resellers and
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          2  inspectors familiar with these rules and how

          3  frequently are they enforced?

          4                 As difficult as it may be to regulate

          5  established retail and rental companies, private

          6  sales of furniture seem a daunting challenge.

          7                 As in Boston, mattresses and other

          8  furniture known or likely to be infested with bed

          9  bugs, may be defaced, labeled and secured until they

         10  can be carted to a recycling or a disposal facility.

         11                 What agencies and stakeholders should

         12  be represented on a Citywide Task Force to devise

         13  and implement strategies to combat bed bugs?

         14  Mosquitoes and certain other medically important

         15  pests are managed in part by governmental agencies.

         16  In contrast, abatement of bed bugs, cockroaches and

         17  many other urban pests remains in the realm of the

         18  private sector.

         19                 Commercial pest management

         20  professionals, formerly turned exterminators, serve

         21  to investigate and treat infested residences. As in

         22  any industry, not all contractors have the desired

         23  level of expertise and success. Despite the efforts

         24  of pest management firms, bed bug problems seem to

         25  be worsening.
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          2                 Legal challenges against tenants and

          3  landlords have become more frequent, and courts have

          4  allowed impressive judgments in settlement. Neither

          5  the lawyers nor the weighty sums assessed seem to

          6  have killed many bed bugs or prevented their spread.

          7                 Developing strategies to effectively

          8  contain its oppressed bed bug populations will

          9  likely require collaborative efforts and adequate

         10  funds from diverse public and private sectors.

         11  Stakeholders that should be represented to devise

         12  such strategies include governmental officials from

         13  health and public health, housing, social services,

         14  insecticide regulatory boards, licensing boards,

         15  waste management and consumer affairs.

         16                 From the private sector, stakeholders

         17  would include representatives from industries, such

         18  as pest management, hospitality and accommodation,

         19  moving companies, furniture retail and rental

         20  establishments and mattress recyclers. Input and

         21  cooperation from tenant and property management

         22  groups will be critical to formulate and implement

         23  any new strategy.

         24                 I hope my comments facilitate this

         25  Committee's efforts to assess and prioritize
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          2  intervention strategies that are most practical and

          3  effective.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Do you want t6o

          5  do the presentation now or after Mr. Sorkin speaks?

          6                 DR. POLLACK: I'll leave that up to

          7  you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Why don't we have

          9  Mr. Sorkin speak first, and then you could do the

         10  presentation, and maybe you could contribute after

         11  the presentation.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 The red light has to be off for the

         14  button to be on.

         15                 DR. SORKIN: Okay, thank you.

         16                 Mr. Comrie, Chairperson, and other

         17  invited guests, as a Board Certified entomologist on

         18  staff in the Division of Invertebrates at the

         19  American Museum of Natural History, and also as a

         20  consultant to the pest management industry, I have

         21  received inquiries from the public over the past 28

         22  years concerning many types of arthropods, including

         23  insects, such as beetles, butterflies and

         24  dragonflies; arachnids, such as spiders, mites and

         25  scorpions; and myriapods, such as centipedes and
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          2  millipedes, all usually referred to as "bugs" by the

          3  general public.

          4                 I began to receive inquiries about

          5  bed bugs within the past ten years, but during the

          6  last five years, the number of calls have increased

          7  by geometric proportions.

          8                 I have been interviewed by the media,

          9  news media, on the subject of bed bugs, and maintain

         10  a small colony of bed bugs for demonstration

         11  purposes, usually fed on me, to keep them alive.

         12                 Members of the family, Cimicidae,

         13  include bugs that feed on warm-blooded animals.

         14  Certain species feed on humans or are forced to when

         15  their natural hosts, such as birds or bats have left

         16  the nest or roost in a building.

         17                 The human bed bug, Cimex lectularius,

         18  is an obligate blood-feeding insect that is

         19  essentially wingless during all of its life,

         20  although small wing pads are evident in the adult

         21  stage.

         22                 Typical of true bugs, the bed bug has

         23  a hinged, segmented, beak-like proboscis composed of

         24  a modified slender mouthpart called stylets,

         25  collectively called a fascicle, a lower lip or
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          2  labium that encases the fascicle for its protection.

          3  The insect feeds by inserting its slender fascicle

          4  through the person's skin as the labium is bent out

          5  of the way. The bug slowly bobs its head up and down

          6  to search for a capillary through which it sucks

          7  blood until full. If bothered, it will search out

          8  another spot and try again. Anesthetic and salivary

          9  secretions are pumped into one canal in the fascicle

         10  while blood is sucked up through the other. Feeding

         11  times vary from a few minutes up to about 10

         12  minutes, depending on the life stage and prior

         13  feedings. Multiple bites experienced by people

         14  result either from multiple feedings by a single bug

         15  and/or from multiple feedings by many bugs. After

         16  feeding, the bug crawls quickly to a hiding place

         17  where it can remain for days, weeks, or months

         18  depending on ambient conditions. It will molt to its

         19  next nymphal or adult stage and feed again, but the

         20  adult bed bug can go without food for a year or

         21  more.

         22                 Recently hatched 1st instar nymphs,

         23  as small as 1mm in length, can go for a month and a

         24  half without a first blood meal but will travel long

         25  distances in search of one.

                                                            76

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 The female lays batches of eggs over

          3  a period of days for a total of 200 to 400 or more

          4  eggs during her lifetime of about 10 months.

          5                 Eggs hatch in about 10 days and under

          6  ideal conditions the life cycle takes from five to

          7  eight weeks during which time the bug goes through

          8  five nymphal instars, requiring a blood meal during

          9  each stage. Under adverse conditions, generation

         10  time can be extended many months. There can be up to

         11  three generations per year in the northeast.

         12                 The bite is often painless and

         13  usually occurs during the night while the person

         14  sleeps. Hungry bed bugs can feed during the daylight

         15  hours as well. Reactions to bites vary from person

         16  to person. Some people experience almost no

         17  symptoms, while other experience large welts,

         18  extreme itchiness and swelling and must seek medical

         19  attention.

         20                 There is also a social stigma

         21  associated with having bed bugs and this affects the

         22  psychological health of an individual as well.

         23  Sleepless and irritability affect productivity at

         24  work. Guilt and disgust may also affect proper and

         25  timely inspection and treatment. Treatment that
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          2  would have been performed in one apartment may now

          3  have to be applied in other ones since bugs have

          4  traveled and infested these additional homes.

          5                 Cimex lectularius is an insect that

          6  readily infests high-priced condominiums, apartments

          7  and expensive hotels, as well as low-income housing,

          8  tenements and motels. It has been taken from

          9  university dormitories, resort hotels, offices and

         10  luxury cruise ships. The common name "bed bug"

         11  should not be taken literally, because the insect is

         12  not restricted to beds alone. Granted, the insect

         13  will reside nearest its host by hiding on or in the

         14  mattress and box spring and on pillows.

         15                 Often bed bugs will congregate along

         16  seams, tufts, and flaps of fabric of the mattress

         17  and box spring. Inspection reveals bugs on and

         18  within the wooden and spring framework of the box

         19  spring, and also in cracks, seams, hollow areas and

         20  recessed screw holes of the bed frame. Bed bugs hide

         21  within platform beds, so their drawers must be slid

         22  out and the unit dismantled in order to inspect and

         23  treat. Cimicids also hide near beds and in night

         24  tables and inside and behind head boards, especially

         25  if the latter is hung on a wall behind paintings,
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          2  peeling paint, loosened wallpaper, tack strips of

          3  wall-to-wall carpeting, loose carpeting, window and

          4  door moldings, crown molding, draperies and other

          5  furniture such as wooden tables, chairs, sleep

          6  sofas, couches and other fabric-covered furniture

          7  plus space within electric wall outlets and

          8  switches, televisions, monitors, computers and

          9  radios.

         10                 They readily crawl into stored items

         11  under beds and crawl into luggage and baggage and

         12  closets, as long as space permits their bodies to

         13  enter.

         14                 A starved bed bug, or at least a 1st

         15  instar nymph, is as think as the paper this

         16  testimony is printed on. Over time digestive blood

         17  is defacated in the hiding areas, eggs are glued in

         18  these areas, and molted skins of growing bugs will

         19  be visible.

         20                 Bed bugs tend to congregate in these

         21  hiding areas. True bugs produce characteristic

         22  pungent odors from specialized body glands and bed

         23  bug odor has been described as being similar to

         24  coriander, cilantro and citronella.

         25                 Bed bugs are efficient hitchhikers
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          2  and are primarily transferred via furniture, such as

          3  mattresses, box springs, and donated furniture, but

          4  also via luggage and boxed materials and to a much

          5  lesser extent, on hanging clothing.

          6                 Travelers may unknowingly pick up bed

          7  bugs and transfer these to their home, which may be

          8  in a new country. Recycled furniture must be

          9  examined and properly treated if infested. Rented

         10  furniture, if not inspected and treated, will

         11  transfer bed bugs from one home to another.

         12  Discarded bed bug infested furniture, mattresses and

         13  boxsprings will initiate an infestation in another

         14  apartment or house if brought in from the streets

         15  and not inspected and treated.

         16                 The insect usually crawls between

         17  apartments and buildings via floors, walls or

         18  ceilings and within walls on wires, pipes or within

         19  plastic conduit, using cable TV apartment wirings.

         20  The proposed legislation concerned with prohibition

         21  of reconditioned mattresses will have a positive

         22  effect on reducing bed bug infestation in the City

         23  since a primary bug, bed bug reservoir will be dealt

         24  with, but much more will have to be done via

         25  creation of a Cimex lectularius task force in order
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          2  to control the spread of insects, of this insect in

          3  New York City.

          4                 The Task Force should integrate many

          5  disciplines and agencies within the City to tackle

          6  the bed bug problem. The 3-1-1 number is an

          7  excellent way to report infestations, and be

          8  informed about bed bug information. Computer

          9  technology will assist those who are on the Task

         10  Force too.

         11                 Listings of bed bug infestations are

         12  already posted on line and also mapped. A search of

         13  the Internet already provides hundreds of bed bug

         14  sites for information, but some of the information

         15  is not always true, or may be tweaked to sell a

         16  control product that may not be legal for

         17  application in New York State, may not actually be

         18  efficacious, or may be dangerous to use by the

         19  homeowner.

         20                 Some sites are relying on people's

         21  fears and apprehension in order to sell product.

         22                 In some cases people are using old

         23  remedies that may be dangerous to one's health, such

         24  as spraying a mattress with gasoline or kerosene to

         25  kill bed bugs. Reliance on sticky monitoring traps
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          2  and keeping apartments vacant for months will not

          3  remove or control infestations.

          4                 An integrated pest management

          5  strategy is indicated. One of the major thrusts of a

          6  task force should be public education in this City

          7  will have to be on a multi-lingual level.

          8                 Bed bug task forces are already

          9  underway in other cities and countries to combat

         10  Cimex lectularius infestations and information can

         11  be gained from their experiences. It really is a

         12  global issue.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I want to thank

         15  you both for your enlightening presentations.

         16                 Do you want to run the slide show

         17  now?

         18                 DR. POLLACK: Okay. I'll try to keep

         19  this very short. It's good to know who your enemy

         20  is, and that's one of the problems that we're

         21  dealing with here and I'd certainly like comment

         22  from Lou Sorkin on this as well.

         23                 I'm not going to show all of these.

         24                 Let's me just page through these to

         25  the ones that are most pertinent today. Obviously
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          2  these things have been in the news, we all know

          3  about that. Tremendous judgments, some justified,

          4  some not. I don't think we've seen the top of the

          5  market as of yet.

          6                 With all the concern about bed bugs,

          7  we make fun of these things. We have cuddly things

          8  that we give our kids that are called "bed bugs," so

          9  I raise that simply because let's keep this problem

         10  in perspective. It's been blown -- it is a problem.

         11  Absolutely, it's a significant problem, but let's be

         12  careful that we don't go down the wrong path. That's

         13  one bit of advice I have.

         14                 I deal with all sorts of insects and

         15  ticks that affect human health, either directly or

         16  because they transmit infectious agents from an

         17  animal or another person to another person. The

         18  level of public concern is often way out of

         19  proportion to the actual harm that these bugs

         20  provide.

         21                 So, one of the most dangerous things

         22  we have in this part of the country, while not in

         23  New York City, is Eastern Equine Encephalitis. It

         24  kills people, and in some cases people are very

         25  worried about it, but usually they sort of forget
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          2  about it. Head lice, spiders and bed bugs tend to be

          3  those things that people are most concerned about. I

          4  get many more complaints about bed bugs and head

          5  lice, things that cause relatively little harm in

          6  proportion than I do in regard to things that

          7  actually cause direct harm and can transmit agents

          8  that may kill somebody.

          9                 Scroll through quickly, this is the

         10  offending creature up on top. These are bed bugs.

         11  They go through different stages of development.

         12  They're flat, as Lou Sorkin mentioned. They can be

         13  as thin as a couple of sheets of paper. They're very

         14  good at crawling into cracks and crevices, wherever

         15  those may occur, much like cockroaches, except these

         16  feed on blood, whereas cockroaches do not, of

         17  course.

         18                 Up close, this is what they look

         19  like. That little spot at the bottom right is the

         20  result of feeding. They eject a little bit of

         21  discolored blood when they're finished feeding, and

         22  that can discolor the mattress, the sheet, the wall

         23  coverings, whatever.

         24                 So, that's what bed bugs look like.

         25  These are bed bug eggs that are cemented to
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          2  structures.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Can you run

          4  through the slides a little slower so they can catch

          5  it on the New York City TV?

          6                 DR. POLLACK: Well, one caution, as an

          7  educator --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right, you're a

          9  little more familiar with it than the rest of us

         10  are. So, if you could just slow it up just a little

         11  bit.

         12                 DR. POLLACK: Okay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         14                 DR. POLLACK: Well, let me actually

         15  raise the size here.

         16                 There is a close-up polarized picture

         17  of the front end of a bed bug up in the upper right,

         18  and some black and white diagrams. In the very

         19  center of the black and white diagrams, you'll see

         20  what looks like a serple (phonetic), that's actually

         21  the business end of the bed bug. That's a

         22  cross-section of what goes into you. There are two

         23  channels in there. The channel that is now colored

         24  red, is the big straw which it's sucking your blood,

         25  or the blood of whatever it's feeding on, that tiny
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          2  little channel just south of there, which is now

          3  colored green, that's where the saliva is flowing.

          4  So, there is two channels, academic issue. Okay,

          5  development, the timing of the development is

          6  temperature dependent. The cooler it is, the longer

          7  it takes for them to develop from egg to adult, and

          8  for those eggs to develop and hatch. If it's too

          9  cold, that process stops. And if it's really cold,

         10  much colder than it would get in an unheated

         11  apartment in New York City, those bugs will die.

         12                 Central heating has been a good thing

         13  for bed bugs, a bad thing for people in this regard.

         14  If we didn't heat our apartments and our homes in

         15  the wintertime here, we wouldn't get rid of bed

         16  bugs, but they would become less of a problem for

         17  several months until it warms up again.

         18                 There is an upper limit to the

         19  temperature, again, but it doesn't get hot enough

         20  here to kill bed bugs on its own. These things can

         21  survive a long time, between feeding, under ideal

         22  laboratory conditions you can go more than a year

         23  survival between feedings.

         24                 All right, so this is what a mattress

         25  might look like with a moderate infestation. I've
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          2  seen infestations that are much worse than this

          3  where the entire mattress is discolored with the

          4  castskins and spots left by bed bugs.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: This says

          6  moderate infestation, correct?

          7                 DR. POLLACK: That's correct. Well,

          8  this could be a light infestation. It's all a

          9  relative term. I've seen apartments where there have

         10  been tens of thousands of bed bugs present, and I've

         11  seen ones where it was hard to find a single one.

         12  Everything is possible in between.

         13                 So, this is a good indication that

         14  bed bugs were present, but it doesn't mean that bed

         15  bugs are still present. One really should look for a

         16  live bed bug, or for a sign of a bed bug that's been

         17  there and that sign wasn't there the day before or

         18  the week before.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Now, is that

         20  where they're habitating or is that just where they

         21  deposited their fecal matter?

         22                 DR. POLLACK: Bed bugs are what we

         23  call thigmotaxis. A lot of insects do this, they

         24  crawl into a crevice or against something, as much

         25  of their body in contact with something else is
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          2  possible. That's just a behavioral quirk that they

          3  have. And they also may have an aggregation odor

          4  that causes them to come together. This is still an

          5  area of very active investigation. So, sometimes

          6  you'll find just one. Other times you'll find a

          7  small accumulation or aggregation of a dozen or 100

          8  or so, certainly that makes it easier to find, if

          9  there are many of them together.

         10                 But they don't have to be on the

         11  mattress, the bed frame, the nightstand, these other

         12  things that I mentioned, all can serve as substrates

         13  for bed bugs to hide within and on and to lay their

         14  eggs on. So, there's a close-up of a corner of a

         15  wooden bed frame, and by the way, metal bed frames

         16  are not necessarily immune, despite what others may

         17  have said, it all depends. Bed bugs are not good at

         18  climbing very smooth surfaces. They cannot do so.

         19  But if your metal bed frame is a little rusty, it's

         20  rough on the edges, the bed bug can scamper up one

         21  of those as well.

         22                 I'll skip over this. This is a huge

         23  issue that I deal with probably a dozen times before

         24  breakfast every day, the number of calls that I get.

         25  People submit specimens to me from all around the
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          2  country, naturally around the world, purported to be

          3  bed bugs. Out of every dozen or so specimens that I

          4  see, many of which have been identified by pest

          5  control professionals, people who you would expect

          6  should know the difference, probably only two or

          7  three of these turn out to be bonafide bed bugs. The

          8  vast majority are other kinds of urban pests, or not

          9  even bugs at all, just bits of debris that people

         10  have mistakingly believed to be bed bugs. And these

         11  are all things on the next slide that have been

         12  submitted to me as purported to be bed bugs. Some of

         13  these things are of some concern, and others are

         14  not.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Can you go back?

         16  Which ones are which ones --

         17                 DR. POLLACK: Well, the top left is a

         18  human head louse.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: No, but there are

         20  different body types of bed bugs. That's the first

         21  I'm hearing that.

         22                 DR. POLLACK: No, no. There are

         23  several very closely related species to things that

         24  we commonly call bed bugs. There is another that

         25  occasionally we see that we call the"bat bug." To
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          2  most people it's indistinguishable, and in practice

          3  you want to get rid of both of them, but one of them

          4  prefers to be on bats, and the bats may actually

          5  introduce these to your home, and the means of

          6  management would be a little bit different, if you

          7  have bed bugs, versus bat bugs. And, yet, there are

          8  other kinds of pests as well.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         10                 DR. POLLACK: We have an evaluation

         11  service, I don't want to go through that.

         12                 Physicians often see patients who are

         13  complaining of lesions, sometimes suspect bed bugs,

         14  the patients sometimes suspect them, sometimes not.

         15  I caution anyone to realize that physicians

         16  generally are not trained to identify the kind of

         17  bug they're confronted with, nor are they trained to

         18  identify what caused the lesion that is confronting

         19  them.

         20                 Only a few of these are caused by bed

         21  bugs. I know because my arm is in a few of these

         22  pictures. And my reaction today is different than it

         23  would have been two or three months ago. So, it's a

         24  very slippery slope to try to diagnose or identify

         25  the cause of the problem, based on this kind of
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          2  evidence.

          3                 Really what you should do is find the

          4  bug itself. These are nest parasites. They hang out

          5  in bird nests and bat nests and so forth, but also

          6  in our own homes, which are essentially nests of all

          7  types.

          8                 I'm going to jump through these, in

          9  the interest of time. Something that's critical to

         10  be aware of. Are bed bugs vectors of human

         11  pathogens? So, if a bed bug feeds on an infected

         12  person or animal, can it inquire a pathogen? And the

         13  answer is absolutely, yes.

         14                 But will that pathogen survive and

         15  reproduce within the bed bug? Absolutely not. Will

         16  that bed bug then infect another person with that

         17  pathogen? Again, no. So, again, let's realize these

         18  things are not transmitting these agents. So, we

         19  shouldn't be too hysterical when we're dealing with

         20  bed bugs. Yes they're an affront to our homes, but

         21  they're not really going to cause a tremendous harm

         22  to us.

         23                 All sorts of possible routes of

         24  entry. We stay in hotels, on cruise ships and so

         25  forth, sometimes bats bring the things in. They
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          2  crawl through walls. This is a real big problem. We

          3  see this in Boston, you see this in New York, I'm

          4  sure. I hope that mattress in the bottom left is not

          5  something anybody in this room would want to take,

          6  but we see this all the time. The mattress doesn't

          7  stay long on the street. Somebody sees it and they

          8  say, that's nicer than what I have, they bring it

          9  home. And maybe there was a reason that mattress was

         10  on the street. Then you've got two apartments

         11  infested rather than just one.

         12                 We've learned a lot about bed bugs.

         13  This is a report from 1793. We're still stuck on 200

         14  plus year-old mentality, but that's because we

         15  haven't learned enough about these things. We keep

         16  trying to throw things at them but they're

         17  outwitting us.

         18                 And this advice is basically to

         19  inspect items that you bring into the house before

         20  you have a problem.

         21                 So, let's move on. The way you manage

         22  a bed bug infestation differs depending on the kind

         23  of residence you have. If it's a single-family

         24  residence, there are many more opportunities to get

         25  rid of them than if you're in a multi-family
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          2  dwelling. These things can walk between walls. If

          3  given the opportunity, they can make it from one

          4  apartment to the next. So, it's important if you

          5  find bed bugs in one place, one apartment, you check

          6  others around it, above and below and even elsewhere

          7  in the building, and may call for a full building

          8  treatment of some sort.

          9                 That's a difficult and incredibly

         10  expensive proposition.

         11                 Reducing clutter and inspecting

         12  furniture is part of the equation. I disagree with

         13  many of my colleagues who have come out publicly on

         14  this where they say you should dispose of furniture

         15  that's infested. That's fine if money is no object.

         16  It doesn't do you any good to bring new furniture or

         17  a new mattress into an infested apartment. To me it

         18  makes sense to get rid of the problem, then if you

         19  want to replace your furniture, fine, go ahead and

         20  do it. But throwing a mattress away is

         21  counterproductive.

         22                 There are ways of covering

         23  mattresses, as long as they offer support and are of

         24  some value, maybe it makes sense to intomb the

         25  mattress, if you will, the same with the boxspring,
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          2  so that any bed bugs that are caught within are

          3  trapped there.

          4                 Landlords, owners can search, clean

          5  and seal apartments to reduce harborage for bed

          6  bugs, reduce the opportunity for them to get from

          7  one apartment to the next. All sorts of

          8  insecticides. We could be here for days talking

          9  about this.

         10                 Legal issues are a real problem, and

         11  the courts have been all over the board as to what

         12  is the correct thing to do. Managers have won,

         13  building managers have one, tenants have won,

         14  they're still fumbling with how best to deal with

         15  this.

         16                 There are some laws on the books,

         17  they go back to about the 1900s. In Boston they had

         18  a law, presence of bed bugs may constitute of

         19  constructive eviction. This is no longer on the

         20  books. It's been replaced within real property law

         21  with the warranty of habitability, something this

         22  Committee, your lawyers can look at as well.

         23                 One other thing that is done in

         24  Boston. Now, I've cautioned this sounds really good,

         25  I support the idea of the notion, no one has
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          2  measured as yet to see how successful this has been.

          3                 This sort of thing strikes fear into

          4  most people who own a vehicle, and people sit up and

          5  take notice. But this is what the Boston

          6  Inspectional Services is using, their inspectors, a

          7  few of them, wander the streets and they slap this

          8  adhesive label on mattresses and on furniture they

          9  believe to be infested. It gives information as to

         10  caution, this may contain bed bugs. Do not remove.

         11  It's in two different languages. There's a phone

         12  number for the Mayor's hot line.

         13                 Does it work? We don't know. And

         14  nothing has this level of guarantee. We'd love to

         15  have that.

         16                 I'll end my comments here. Mattresses

         17  have been our bane for a long time, but this

         18  certainly is not the way to deal with it either.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I'm curious, you

         20  said the bed bug does not spread the pathogen. How

         21  does it excrete the blood once it enters its system?

         22                 DR. POLLACK: Partially digested blood

         23  is sent out the rear-end, sort of a semi-solid

         24  liquid feces. It's a blackish droplet.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, if it's doing
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          2  multiple feeding, there's no back flow or re-back

          3  wash as to -- either the tip from getting the blood

          4  from the last person to a new person?

          5                 DR. POLLACK: That's a general notion

          6  that most folks in the lay public and the medical

          7  community as well believe, that a bug, an insect, a

          8  blood-feeding creature like this, is like a walking

          9  or flying syringe, that what comes in one end goes

         10  back out the same way, and that picture I showed

         11  with the red and the green dot speak to that. No, it

         12  doesn't happen. Blood comes in one end, it spits out

         13  saliva and those two components never mix, except in

         14  the skin.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         16  Interesting.

         17                 And has there been any sampling of a

         18  bed bug that's been infected to see if the feces is

         19  infected also?

         20                 DR. POLLACK: A number of people have

         21  over the past many decades looked at bugs to find

         22  out what they may be infected with. The same is true

         23  with fleas and mosquitoes and many other things.

         24                 As I said, indeed, a bed bug that

         25  feeds on an infected host can be found to have these
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          2  pathogens in their guts. That's interesting but it

          3  has no medical significance whatsoever. Not unless

          4  it's able to maintain those pathogens, allow them to

          5  grow and somehow get them out of the body.

          6                 The only way I can imagine a bed bug

          7  infecting anybody would be if you took such an

          8  infected bed bug that had just fed, you ground it

          9  up, put it into a syringe and shot it into the skin.

         10  And that's not realistic.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Got my skin

         12  crawling all day.

         13                 Okay, and you both gentlemen said

         14  that bed bugs are not limited to mattresses, but it

         15  could be in clothing, it can go up and down pipes,

         16  it can go up and down and it could pretty much hide

         17  anywhere, so you don't believe that just regulating

         18  the retail of mattresses is going to be enough to

         19  stop this explosion of this problem within this City

         20  or anywhere else.

         21                 Did either one of you have a

         22  suggestion on -- or have you looked into proper

         23  treatment, or most effective treatment towards

         24  eradicating bed bug infestation?

         25                 DR. SORKIN: Well, there are already
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          2  many products on the market for use by the homeowner

          3  and also by professional pest management individual.

          4  There is also an intubated system where of course

          5  cultural methods would be used, you know, in

          6  vacuuming and brushing and using repellant, maybe

          7  Vaseline, although some people don't like that to

          8  put on the bed, or double-sided tape to keep bed

          9  bugs from climbing up and down. But if you have a

         10  bed against the wall, they're crawling up the wall

         11  and getting into bed.

         12                 There are different pesticides, like

         13  I said, regulated and used for bed bug control.

         14                 There's no traps yet, or there's no

         15  monitoring devices or attractants that have yet been

         16  produced that will work by placing them into a home

         17  and having all bed buts crawl into it.

         18                 There's insect growth regulators used

         19  also to keep bed bugs in the population from growing

         20  up and therefore not producing young, but you're not

         21  going to remove a population that way from an area.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, you do

         23  believe there are over-the-counter pesticides that

         24  could effectively eradicate the bed bug infestation?

         25                 DR. SORKIN: There are
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          2  over-the-counter pesticides. It really depends how

          3  they're applied. It's not so much what's being used,

          4  because the same ones could be used by a

          5  professional. If they're not used properly, they're

          6  not going to work either. If they're placed in the

          7  wrong spot they're not going to work either.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          9                 DR. SORKIN: And most people don't

         10  read instructions properly, is one big problem. And

         11  they go on the Internet, and I've seen a lot of

         12  things for sale that have never been -- a lot of the

         13  products on the market are not -- in fact, it says

         14  on some of the sites it's not for use in New York,

         15  and there are others that say, well, we're not

         16  pesticides, but will work and rid the apartment or

         17  home of bed bugs.

         18                 DR. POLLACK: My main concern is the

         19  level of harm associated with bed bugs is more

         20  likely going to come from people who take well

         21  intentioned but misguided steps, as we said earlier,

         22  about the use of gasoline. Most people, in my

         23  experience, most people go to the store and they

         24  select a pesticide based on a colorful picture on

         25  the can. Very few people I believe read those
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          2  labels, understand how they should be used and

          3  follow their directions.

          4                 One can hope that the licensed pest

          5  control professionals do know how to do this. They

          6  know what to select, they have the proper equipment

          7  to apply these materials, and I think most of them

          8  are honest.

          9                 The problem is, as with any

         10  contractor, whether you need a new roof, new siding

         11  on your house, update your plumbing, it's incumbent

         12  upon the owner, the tenants to do his or her

         13  homework to find out which company not only has

         14  experienced dealing with these things, but who has

         15  had success.

         16                 This is a difficult thing. Nearly an

         17  entire generation of folks in the pest control

         18  industry have lost the experience dealing with these

         19  things. For 20, 30 years bed bugs have not been much

         20  of a problem. And for the few old timers that are

         21  still around today, they'll say, oh, I remember

         22  dealing with these things, but the chemicals that

         23  they used several decades ago are no longer

         24  available today. So, that industry is learning as

         25  well. And as the two gentlemen that were here
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          2  preceding us mentioned, trade groups, they are being

          3  proactive or reactive. They see this is a problem. I

          4  see as an opportunity here that perhaps this

          5  Council, this Committee, might consider setting up

          6  some sort of certification. Not a law, but maybe a

          7  certification process for companies to show that

          8  they have the knowledge and the experience to deal

          9  with these sorts of bugs, and maybe then the

         10  Department of Consumer Affairs can maintain such a

         11  list of who has passed some sort of certification.

         12  It's not licensure, but it shows at least a minimum

         13  understanding of what's out there.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         15                 Why do you think we're losing ground

         16  all of a sudden, the bed bug is reproliferating as

         17  an issue?

         18                 DR. POLLACK: Well, we're helping

         19  them. We providing them with terrific habitat. Each

         20  one of our homes is nearly perfect for them.

         21                 Why are they back? As I mentioned

         22  during my testimony, we don't know. We all have our

         23  own opinions. I think only the bed bugs know it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Is there an

         25  origination point? Just out of curiosity, do they
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          2  originate from --

          3                 DR. SORKIN: Well, it's a cosmopolitan

          4  species that occurs here in Europe and Asia.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          6                 DR. SORKIN: So, there's a lot of it

          7  in transportation. A related species is more

          8  southerly in distribution and in tropics, and also

          9  the bat bugs and bird bugs are different. So,

         10  actually, if people were to get different bed bugs

         11  in their home, a correct identification is important

         12  because you have a bat problem, you've removed the

         13  bats, the bugs really prefer bats more than people.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         15                 DR. SORKIN: And with the birds, they

         16  really prefer the bird, not people.

         17                 The human bed bug mainly prefers

         18  people, but it will feed on other creatures, too.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Oh, they will?

         20  Okay.

         21                 DR. SORKIN: Oh, yes. Definitely.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Council

         23  Member Brewer?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you,

         25  both, for excellent testimony, and I know your
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          2  schedules are busy so I appreciate your being here

          3  very much.

          4                 My question is, I think we all agree

          5  that it's not the worst kind of pesticide

          6  healthwise, but mental healthwise it's really,

          7  really a challenge. We live, like Boston and San

          8  Francisco, very close to each other, and I don't

          9  know, just from the hundreds of phone calls and

         10  e-mails we receive, people are really freaked out.

         11  Even more so, my kids all had head lice, we dealt

         12  with it. I didn't freak out. With bed bugs, it's a

         13  mental health challenge.

         14                 And, so, I think we need to do

         15  everything we can, thanks to the Chairman and you,

         16  to try to address this issue.

         17                 And, so, just from a legislative

         18  perspective, I'm wondering, looking at Boston or San

         19  Francisco, I know London dealt with it, Sydney, I

         20  think that the education campaign has not been done

         21  here, and I think you listed some good examples. I'm

         22  just wondering, the private sector, the courts, the

         23  public sector, all needs to be involved. Obviously

         24  the professional sector, too, in terms of

         25  exterminators, and the pesticide control community.
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          2                 So, my question is, do you have some

          3  legislative aspects that we should be looking at in

          4  terms of education. And then I want to be clear that

          5  in terms of the legislation, it was a beginning,

          6  it's not an end. So, we were, to be very honest with

          7  you, kind of struggling because we had so many calls

          8  and so much concern, and not exactly clear what to

          9  do.

         10                 So, this is a beginning. It's not the

         11  end. Mattresses, I'm very clear, are just one aspect

         12  of what we can address. And obviously it's

         13  transportation in the hallways, and it's other ways

         14  in which things are disposed of. So, I'm wondering,

         15  between your collective expertise, if there is some

         16  legislative aspect beyond mattresses that we should

         17  be looking at.

         18                 Boston has looked at this a little

         19  bit. So, we've got both the education aspect, I

         20  think, and the prevention aspect, maybe even a

         21  sunsetting situation, until we get beyond this

         22  crisis. Maybe not a health crisis but a mental

         23  health crisis.

         24                 So, legislative-wise, I'm just

         25  wondering in addition to your legislation, or just
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          2  summarizing your legislation, what we should be

          3  looking at.

          4                 And in this day we have a huge

          5  language issue, too. We have many people from a

          6  community in Queens, Flushing in particular, Jackson

          7  Heights, that have come to us, many languages,

          8  information is not getting out in the appropriate

          9  language.

         10                 DR. SORKIN: That's what I mentioned

         11  in my testimony.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: You did, Dr.

         13  Sorkin.

         14                 DR. SORKIN: It must be multi-lingual

         15  and I know from some experiences with people from

         16  different parts of the world where bed bugs might

         17  not be thought of as being a big problem in the

         18  home, and there might be thousands in a home, but

         19  they've learned to live with them in a home, so they

         20  don't think of it being a problem when they come

         21  here. People might even carry it with them. They're

         22  not inspected, you know, people aren't really

         23  inspected expect for explosives and things for bed

         24  bugs, you know, in luggage when you come across and

         25  migrate over.
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          2                 I don't know if that would have to be

          3  examined too.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. So, just

          5  in terms of education, what do you suggest would be

          6  the highlights that legislatively we should be

          7  focused on? Either speaker?

          8                 DR. SORKIN: Maybe have more

          9  experience in Boston already.

         10                 DR. POLLACK: Experience but not

         11  necessarily success.

         12                 I think with legislation should come

         13  sort of appropriation. You can't do this without

         14  money.

         15                 Yes, you've got to educate the

         16  residents of New York, to look, to scrutinize that

         17  nice dresser that's on the streets. I think that may

         18  go further than any law that bans the exchange of

         19  these items.

         20                 I think as was discussed earlier with

         21  the two gentlemen from DCA, maybe looking more

         22  closely at what regulations already exist,  and ask

         23  what enforcement is done of these, and what's

         24  possible.

         25                 Used mattresses by themselves, really
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          2  are not necessarily a danger. They're only a risk if

          3  they derive from an apartment or a home where there

          4  were bed bugs.

          5                 So, I think the vast majority of the

          6  mattresses that may be out there are essentially

          7  intrinsically safe. They may not be nice to look at,

          8  but they have value.

          9                 So, what might one legislate? I think

         10  to fine those retailers or resellers or rental

         11  agencies that misrepresent the products they're

         12  selling or they're renting, some of them knowingly

         13  are turning over things as new, that they know not

         14  to be the case. But I suspect that the laws already

         15  exist that remedy that.

         16                 I'm at a little bit of a loss to

         17  suggest anything new that's going to be the magic

         18  bullet.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, well,

         20  this hearing is helpful because we learn that there

         21  is some state law, as you heard earlier, that's not

         22  being implemented that could address this issue. And

         23  we also, I think you suggested some kind of

         24  certification process perhaps for those in the

         25  industry, just to help consumers know what they're

                                                            107

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  purchasing.

          3                 And I think the issue is a different

          4  kind of education campaign that really gets at the

          5  individuals, you know, who need to have this

          6  information, that's in different languages and

          7  covers some of the territory that you talked about

          8  today where there is a lot of misinformation. It's a

          9  big City, and the fact of the matter is it needs to

         10  have different points of information and I think

         11  that's what we're missing right now.

         12                 So, thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         14                 Gentlemen, thank you for your

         15  insightful and thorough presentations. You gave us a

         16  lot more to think about and made us realize that

         17  it's not just in one area, but it's something that

         18  we have to look at many areas to deal with this

         19  particular thing.

         20                 Okay, I thought there was a question

         21  for you gentlemen, that's why I was hesitating.

         22                 So I appreciate everything Shula has

         23  been doing to get us the information.

         24                 So, Dr. Pollack, and Professor

         25  Sorkin, I really want to thank you both for coming
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          2  today and appreciate you being here.

          3                 The next panel will be Mr. Timothy

          4  Wenk, and Mr. Steven DeCastro, and Louise Seeley.

          5  Could they close that door in the back, I know the

          6  press wants to do interviews of the people that

          7  testified, but to be fair to the people that are

          8  going to speak. Thank you, Sergeant-At-Arms.

          9                 It's counter-intuitive. The light has

         10  to be off for the speaker to be on. So, whoever

         11  would like to go first, you can identify yourself

         12  for the record.

         13                 MR. DeCASTRO: Yes, good afternoon. My

         14  name is Steven, and my law firm represents tenants

         15  in Manhattan Housing Court. I speak to tenants

         16  regularly at community forums all over New York, and

         17  I appear on television regularly to speak on some of

         18  the most important tenant issues in New York.

         19                 I also distribute this DVD entitled

         20  "How To Fight A Housing Court Case," which is

         21  available through nearly all of the City Council

         22  offices in Manhattan, and hundreds of these videos

         23  are still available to City Council Members to

         24  distribute to the tenants of New York free of

         25  charge.
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          2                 I am the Counsel for the tenant in

          3  the case of Ludlow Properties versus Peter Young,

          4  which was the first bed bug case in approximately

          5  100 years to be decided in New York's courts. And

          6  I'm here before the Committee today to discuss the

          7  unique aspects of this type of landlord tenant

          8  problem.

          9                 Number one, unlike other insects

         10  found in the home, bed bugs feed directly on the

         11  humans who inhabit the apartment. Busy New York

         12  Tenants spend the majority of their time in their

         13  apartments in bed, and so, therefore this very

         14  seriously impacts the ability for them to get use

         15  and enjoyment out of their apartments.

         16                 Number two, unlike other repair

         17  issues in Housing Court, the tenants' cooperation is

         18  required to an unprecedented degree. Often ten to 12

         19  access dates are requested in a single case, and

         20  tenants are asked to treat their clothing and are

         21  often instructed to discard much of their furniture.

         22  Often these methods are prescribed by the landlord

         23  or the exterminator out of ignorance. In other

         24  words, there are some exterminators who advise get

         25  rid of your bed and any wooded furniture, even
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          2  before they come to visit the apartment. And then

          3  the landlords leave it fairly vague as to who would

          4  be responsible for the replacement of these items.

          5                 And number three, similar to the

          6  problems that New York has already dealt with, such

          7  as mold, and lead paint, it takes a qualified

          8  contractor to safely address this problem.

          9                 Many unscrupulous exterminators are

         10  preying on the landlord, claiming that they are

         11  capable of addressing the problem when they are not.

         12  And often these exterminators end up inconveniencing

         13  the tenant, and applying dangerous poisons which

         14  will not be effective against the bed bugs simply to

         15  bill the landlord.

         16                 And number four, unlike other repair

         17  issues, bed bugs are both a result of the tourism

         18  industry and the greatest danger to the tourism

         19  industry.

         20                 We have heard discussions this

         21  morning regarding is this a health problem? We

         22  should also consider this as a potential economic

         23  problem.

         24                 In London the tourism industry had

         25  been affected for years because of bed bug
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          2  infestation in hotels, and it is serious. And also I

          3  disagree with the characterization this is not a

          4  health problem. To the extent that human beings need

          5  sleep to maintain their health, this is a very

          6  serious health problem.

          7                 And, so, I would ask that the

          8  Committee consider for the formation of this task

          9  force several suggestions, and I will run through

         10  them quickly, and I'm sure that I want to share the

         11  time with my colleagues.

         12                 First, I think that the task force

         13  should have the representation from both a landlord

         14  and the tenants' bars, and also the Housing Court

         15  judges. Many Housing Court judges have approached me

         16  to ask what is the best approach to this issue.

         17                 And one of the first things I advise

         18  is that when there is a stipulation of settlement of

         19  a Housing Court case for access and repairs, that

         20  also the tenant is faxed documentation of the

         21  poisons to be used for the treatment of these bed

         22  bugs, and this documentation show these particular

         23  poisons are indicated for bed bugs.

         24                 I believe that we should consider the

         25   -- oh, we should involve a review of data from HPD,
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          2  Department of Health and 3-1-1 to measure and locate

          3  the hot points in the City regarding this bed bug

          4  problem.

          5                 Also, we should consider the

          6  possibility of guidelines for bed bug remediation

          7  similar to New York's mullet guidelines.

          8                 What I see is a problem of no

          9  standards, regarding the selling of mattresses, the

         10  sanitation of them, no standards regarding what

         11  advice do we give to tenants for how they should go

         12  about treating the problem, no standards. And

         13  regarding how is a landlord supposed to know whether

         14  this exterminator knows what they're doing or not in

         15  regard to the bed bug problem, we don't have any

         16  standards for that.

         17                 And consider the possibility of an

         18  exterminator certification program similar to the

         19  lead paint program, but, of course, on a lesser

         20  scale. I'm not equating the lead paint problem with

         21  the bed bug problem, but a similar solution could be

         22  used to solve that problem.

         23                 We have a problem in Housing Court

         24  where tenants who get to Housing Court who have held

         25  their rent for a bed bug problem, often are ready to
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          2  simply move out of their apartments, and they're

          3  sick of it. So, what happens is the landlord makes a

          4  deal with the tenant, say, we will waive our claim

          5  for the rent, and we will allow you to move out of

          6  your apartment as soon as you want to.

          7                 The problem with that is, that solves

          8  that particular tenant's problem, but it does not

          9  solve our problem in New York City, because the

         10  apartment is then rerented to a new tenant, and the

         11  landlord has already avoided the necessity of having

         12  to effect bed bug extermination in that apartment.

         13                 And I've had many clients come to me

         14  saying that they have been moved into an apartment

         15  that is infested with bed bugs and that they have

         16  learned that the previous tenants have the same

         17  problem. So, clearly, Housing Court can't be the

         18  only solution. We have to have a solution that is

         19  more global.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You ended

         21  abruptly. You were done?

         22                 MR. DeCASTRO: Yes. I was turning it

         23  over.

         24                 Oh, and by the way, I just wanted to

         25  say that of the materials distributed, the only one
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          2  that I had was photos from a federal court case I'm

          3  involved in right now, where a visitor from

          4  Pennsylvania came to New York City on business and

          5  stayed one night in a midtown hotel. When he awoke,

          6  he awoke to find dead insects in his bed, and when

          7  he went home, his wife inspected him and found

          8  almost 100 bites all over his body, very large red

          9  welts, very distasteful in its appearance. And, so,

         10  this is a problem with the hotels, and it is a very

         11  serious problem, and I don't know if you can

         12  classify it as a health problem, but since it's in

         13  the hotels is certainly an economic problem.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you. Thank

         15  you, Mr. DeCastro.

         16                 MS. SEELEY: Good afternoon. I'm

         17  Louise Seeley. I'm the Executive Director of the

         18  Citywide Task Force on Housing Court.

         19                 First I want to thank the City

         20  Council, especially Council Member Brewer, for

         21  addressing this biting problem has played in our

         22  City.

         23                 I'm going to keep this testimony

         24  fairly brief, because I have limited knowledge about

         25  bed bugs.
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          2                 Our organization has information

          3  tables in every Housing Court in New York City. We

          4  also staff Housing Court information hot line.

          5  Through this work we receive inquiries from tenants

          6  and landlords on all types of housing issues,

          7  including complaints about vermin.

          8                 Earlier there were questions about

          9  where 3-1-1 calls go. Some of them certainly come to

         10  my organization.

         11                 Over the past two years we've seen a

         12  marked increase in the number of complaints about

         13  bed bugs. We do not have actual numbers. We do not

         14  track problems to this small degree.

         15                 However, we have received complaints

         16  from every borough in the City in neighborhoods both

         17  rich and poor.

         18                 Bed bugs do not discriminate between

         19  race, economic status or political affiliation. It

         20  is the nature of these complaints which have caused

         21  us to realize the great need for education and

         22  public awareness about this problem.

         23                 Most of the people we speak to have

         24  little information about bed bugs. Much of what they

         25  think they know is wrong, and at times dangerous.

                                                            116

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 An example of just one person we've

          3  spoken to highlights why educating the public about

          4  this issue is crucial. A tenant from Murray Hill

          5  came to our Manhattan Information Table seeking

          6  help. She had complained to her landlord about bed

          7  bugs.

          8                 He informed her to file a complaint

          9  with the office, but to list it just as vermin and

         10  not to mention bed bugs. He didn't want any of the

         11  other tenants to know that there were bed bugs in

         12  the building.

         13                 The landlord's exterminator was then

         14  sent to her apartment and the tenant, to her

         15  surprise, received a $500 extermination bill.

         16                 The landlord's attempt to hide the

         17  existence of bed bugs from the rest of the building

         18  was potentially costly and dangerous. Bed bugs can

         19  travel from apartment to apartment. This tenant did

         20  not know how the bed bugs crawled in her apartment,

         21  and it was possible they came from another unit in

         22  the building.

         23                 By only addressing the problem in her

         24  unit, the building was at risk of continued

         25  infestation and her unit was at risk of
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          2  reinfestation.

          3                 The landlord's decision to try and

          4  hide the problem from the other tenants highlights

          5  what education is key to eradication. Many people

          6  wrongly assume that the existence of bed bugs means

          7  unsanitary conditions. The landlords did not want

          8  the other tenants to think it was a dirty building.

          9                 This shame associated with bed bugs

         10  needs to be addressed, or it greatly increases the

         11  risk of bed bugs spreading to through buildings.

         12                 Landlords need to learn that the

         13  problem must be addressed building-wide. Tenants who

         14  sometimes hide the existence of bed bugs from their

         15  landlord, either because they are afraid they will

         16  get evicted or are just ashamed, need to inform

         17  their landlords quickly so that the problem can be

         18  contained.

         19                 This fear of complaining about bed

         20  bugs creates another problem as well. The use of

         21  dangerous home remedies. This is New York, and

         22  everyone has an opinion on everything, including how

         23  to get rid of bed bugs. Unfortunately, some of this

         24  advice is wrong, and at times dangerous.

         25                 We had one woman tell us that she had
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          2  on the advice of a friend, pour rubbing alcohol

          3  around her bed and on her mattress in an attempt to

          4  get rid of the bugs.

          5                 Finally, the landlord's attempt to

          6  bill the tenant shows how important it is that

          7  tenants be educated about who is responsible for

          8  ridding the building of these pests. Without our

          9  assistance, the tenants would have accepted the

         10  landlord's assertion that it was their

         11  responsibility. This is both wrong and has the

         12  potential of dissuading tenants from informing their

         13  landlords about the problem, thus again increasing

         14  the risk of spreading through the building.

         15                 Living in an apartment or building

         16  with bed bugs is difficult for both the landlord and

         17  the tenant. The steps involved are numerous and

         18  cumbersome. Keeping bed bugs out in the first place

         19  is clearly best, and stopping the sale of

         20  reconditioned mattresses is a good way of stopping

         21  the initial infestation.

         22                 However, once a building has bed

         23  bugs, landlords and tenants both need to know their

         24  rights and responsibilities. Landlords need to learn

         25  that eradication is their responsibility. They also
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          2  need to be educated that addressing the problem

          3  promptly and effectively is a finally sound

          4  decision. We have spoken to landlords who complained

          5  that they hired an exterminator and still had bugs.

          6  Bed bugs require specific treatment, and some

          7  exterminators are not properly trained for this

          8  particular problem.

          9                 Landlords need to be informed about

         10  which treatments are effective. As mentioned before,

         11  perhaps exterminators should be certified for this

         12  particular type of vermin.

         13                 And tenants need to know their

         14  responsibilities as well. For treatments to be

         15  effective, tenants must provide access and follow

         16  instructions regarding the washing of bedding and

         17  clothing carefully.

         18                 The creation of a bed bug task force

         19  that can study and then educate the public about bed

         20  bugs is a first and crucial step in solving this

         21  problem.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes, Mr. Wenk,

         23  you did submit your testimony and it was pretty

         24  extensive, and we still have like ten people to

         25  testify.
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          2                 MR. WENK: I'm going to be very brief.

          3  A lot of the material that I wrote about in my

          4  testimony, I'll skip over because it's been

          5  mentioned over and over.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I appreciate

          7  that.

          8                 MR. WENK: My name is Timothy Wenk.

          9  I'm an attorney. About three years ago I came across

         10  my first bed bug case, and since then I've been

         11  researching the issue and learning a lot about it,

         12  and I wrote an article a couple of months back, and

         13  in response to that article, I get a number of calls

         14  from landlords, tenants, hotels, people who have

         15  suffered bed bug bites.

         16                 In my research I found a case that

         17  was three years old, a case from Chicago. Federal

         18  Judge Richard Posner upheld a startling award of

         19  $382,000 in a bed bug case. That case is called

         20  Mathias versus Accor Lodging and Motel. In this case

         21  a brother and sister were attacked by bugs while

         22  staying in Motel 6 in Chicago. They suffered

         23  numerous bed bug bites and sued. A jury awarded them

         24  each $186,000 in punitive damages and $5,000 in

         25  compensatory damages. The Motel 6 actively misled
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          2  guests about bed bug bites, calling the bed bugs

          3  ticks.

          4                 An exterminator suggested that they

          5  have a complete spraying of the building and the

          6  Motel 6 declined. The bed bugs came and they bit the

          7  Mathias's and they turned around and sued and got a

          8  very large award.

          9                 There are a number of theories of why

         10  bed bugs are coming back, and we talked about an

         11  increased foreign travel, a switch to the use of

         12  pesticides to bait gel traps, and the banning of

         13  DDT. Bed bugs can survive 500 days without a

         14  feeding. That means a bed bug can crawl into your

         15  luggage, live there for a year and a half without

         16  feeding, then crawl out into a home, a hotel, police

         17  precinct and even hospitals.

         18                 As were discussed, a well-fed healthy

         19  female can leave up to 500 eggs in a lifetime. Those

         20  eggs will hatch within six to 28 days. So, an

         21  infestation can occur very quickly.

         22                 We discussed what they look like and

         23  where they hide. One popular place where they hide

         24  is in indents for screws. Turn the screw in, they

         25  hide in there and they lay their eggs right in the
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          2  indent where you put the screwdriver.

          3                 In New York there has been a long

          4  history of bed bug-related cases reported in the

          5  State of New York. The first one I found was in

          6  1908. A case called Jacobs versus Morand. And

          7  basically in that case the Court found that a tenant

          8  is not relieved of their obligation to pay the rent

          9  when an apartment is overrun by vermin. The Court

         10  reasoned that the bed bug infestation in question

         11  could have been abated by the tenant, therefore the

         12  tenant was relieved -- was not relieved of the

         13  common law duty to pay the rent.

         14                 Now thanks to Steven DeCastro, we

         15  have a different view on this. Judge Bedford ruled

         16  in 2004 in the case of Ludlow Properties versus

         17  Young that the increased -- the infestation of bed

         18  bugs rises to the level of a breach of the warranty

         19  of habitability, and the tenant was relieved of his

         20  common law duty to pay the rent in that case.

         21                 Bed bugs arise in landlord/tenant

         22  disputes, as was discussed and litigated by Steven

         23  DeCastro, also involved in personal injury cases in

         24  2005, a woman by the name of Leslie Fox who was

         25  staying in a hotel up in the Borch Belt, and she
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          2  reported that she suffered over 500 bed bugs while

          3  at her stay. She recently sued for $20 million, this

          4  case is still pending.

          5                 In 2003, a Mr. Ventura claimed he was

          6  mauled by bed bugs while staying at the Helmsley

          7  Park Lane Hotel. This case settled for $150,000.

          8                 So, the threat is real, and not only

          9  could it affect the tourist industry, it also can

         10  affect the pockets of businesses in New York.

         11                 In response to the resurgence in bed

         12  bugs that we've talked about today, there has been

         13  some states that have passed pending legislation

         14  addressing the issue.

         15                 In Hawaii State Senator Baker and

         16  Representative Lee proposed a resolution that would

         17  address the negative impact that the infestations

         18  have in the hospitality and tourism industries. This

         19  bill is still pending.

         20                 We spoke about Boston's legislation.

         21  San Fransicso just last month passed guidelines to

         22  cope with these nocturnal nuisances, and this law

         23  provides guidelines for owners, operators, hotels,

         24  operators of multiple dwelling units, building

         25  management companies, and the like.
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          2                 The bottom line is this. After their

          3  temporary demise, bed bugs are back. The National

          4  Pest Management Association has reported a 71

          5  percent increase just in the last five years.

          6                 This increase will continue to have

          7  detrimental affect on hotels, landlord, management

          8  companies, and for unlucky victims of bed bug bites.

          9  It's time for legislators to act.

         10                 There can be no doubt that the sale

         11  of reconditioned mattresses contributes to the

         12  infestations. But more can be done to combat the

         13  problem. Innkeepers, building owners, building

         14  managers, tenants and pest control companies need to

         15  be educated on the description and habits of these

         16  little beasts and how to defeat them. A task force

         17  should be formed to educate the public and to set

         18  guidelines to address this epidemic.

         19                 One of the things not talked about

         20  today was the use of heat. I went down to

         21  Washington, D.C. last week for a bed bug symposium

         22  and some of the speakers had said that you heat a

         23  bed bug for two hours to up to 130 degrees, that

         24  will kill them.

         25                 Some of these companies are setting
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          2  up heating stations where people can take their

          3  mattresses in and their furniture in, two

          4  treatments, two two-hour treatments will kill the

          5  bugs.

          6                 Another thing they're using to combat

          7  this problem is dogs. Dogs can sniff mold, can sniff

          8  for explosives, and they can also sniff out bed

          9  bugs. So, now the industry is looking towards that

         10  Avenue to inspect the problem.

         11                 And the last thing I just want to

         12  address, I think this is a health issue. I think

         13  just because they don't transmit HIV or Hepatitis or

         14  other things, doesn't mean that it should be taken

         15  less seriously.

         16                 If you don't go without sleep for a

         17  number of days, you have a mental health issue. It's

         18  that simple.

         19                 Thank you for your time.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you, panel.

         21                 Whose responsibility is it to

         22  eliminate bed bugs from a rented apartment?

         23                 MR. DeCASTRO: Well, I would be

         24  surprised, actually, if the 1908 case that Mr. Wenk

         25  had mentioned, and my case, Ludlow Properties versus
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          2  Peter Young, would be contradictory.

          3                 It is the responsibility of the

          4  landlord to address a bed bug problem. Because that

          5  would be a breach of the warranty of habitability,

          6  which is the assumed warranty at common law for

          7  residential tenants in New York City.

          8                 However, the landlord could have a

          9  defense if, in fact, the tenant was responsible

         10  somehow for bringing the bed bugs in.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: How is that

         12  proven, one way or the other?

         13                 MR. DeCASTRO: In my experience, for

         14  the clients I've seen, clients who lived in one or

         15  two, or two or three-family houses, such as in

         16  Queens or Brooklyn, may have a good clue as to

         17  whether they brought it in or whether they're native

         18  tenant brought it in. But in multi-unit residences

         19  in Manhattan, and other large multiple residents in

         20  New York City, it is nearly impossible and it has

         21  never been found, in my experience, that you could

         22  source the bed bug situation to a particular tenant.

         23                 MS. SEELEY: And I would just like to

         24  add, if you have one apartment that has bed bugs, it

         25  is clearly the landlord's responsibility to address
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          2  that problem, because they can spread to other

          3  units.

          4                 The landlord is far better off

          5  approaching that problem quickly and attacking it

          6  while it's only in that one apartment before it

          7  spreads to the whole building, which clearly the

          8  landlord would then be responsible for because it

          9  allowed the problem to transfer from one apartment

         10  to the next.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, in your

         12  experience, you believe that once one apartment is

         13  infestated (sic), the entire building is likely

         14  infestated (sic) -- infested.

         15                 MS. SEELEY: It's not my experience,

         16  but we've certainly heard stories and certainly the

         17  experts that have spoken here today have said they

         18  can travel from one apartment to the next. They can

         19  go along cable lines, they can go through walls.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right. Right.

         21                 MS. SEELEY: So, it becomes a problem

         22  that affects the whole building.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And in your

         24  opinion, you cited Boston and San Francisco, who do

         25  you think has the best set of regulatory of
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          2  legislative actions?

          3                 MR. WENK: I like San Francisco's the

          4  best, and I'll tell you why. There's is more

          5  extensive. It really sets out the guidelines, and

          6  the guidelines, the requirements under the statute

          7  includes training the staff to identify dead bugs. A

          8  lot of people don't know what these things look

          9  like.

         10                 The procedures for reporting and

         11  responding to complaints about bed bugs, that

         12  statute includes information about treatment and

         13  control of bed bugs in hotel rooms, management of

         14  furnishings and material infested with bed bugs. The

         15  statue also addresses people that can't take care of

         16  themselves. What happens when they have a bed bug

         17  infestation? And along that line, last week in

         18  Washington at the symposium, one of the speakers,

         19  Mike Potter, who has become one of the experts in

         20  this area, was talking about bed bugs coming into a

         21  hospital in the transplant unit. Which you could

         22  imagine is a nightmare for them.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         24                 MR. WENK: But to answer your

         25  question, I think San Francisco has great
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          2  guidelines.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

          4                 And you mentioned a few hotels or

          5  hospitals that have had bed bug attacks. Clearly

          6  that's their responsibility to clean and maintain

          7  and management their properties. So, have those

          8  cases gone down since the cases you reported? Or are

          9  you still getting cases from the hotel hospice

         10  industry?

         11                 MR. WENK: I'm still getting cases. I

         12  see them all over the place.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Really? Even with

         14  the public lawsuits it hasn't gotten them to a point

         15  where they're --

         16                 MR. WENK: Some of the hotels are not

         17  taking the measures. This symposium in Washington

         18  was focused, addressed to people that run hotels. So

         19  they're becoming educated on this problem, and these

         20  cases certainly will make them learn fast.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And to the lady

         22  on the  Citywide Task Force on Housing Court, do you

         23  have recommended exterminators, or a list of

         24  personnel that you have successful working

         25  relationships with?
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          2                 MS. SEELEY: Our office does not have

          3  a list. I believe Mr. DeCastro does have a list.

          4                 One of the problems of not having a

          5  certification is that there is no master list of

          6  knowing which exterminators are competent in doing

          7  this.

          8                 We do advise landlords when they call

          9  to inquire to make sure that they have an

         10  exterminator who is experienced and knows what

         11  they're doing.

         12                 MR. DeCASTRO: Remarkably, I think

         13  this is because of the experience of Council Member

         14  Brewer's office, the best exterminators to deal with

         15  this problem are actually on this witness list. And

         16  I think the Pest Away Exterminating is an

         17  exterminator that I use and I have a very high

         18  opinion about.

         19                 One thing that's interesting, though,

         20  is that, say for instance I have a client with a

         21  lead paint problem. If someone knocks on the door

         22  and says I'm going to take care of your lead paint

         23  problem, my client is advised to say, okay, well, do

         24  you have certification? If the person doesn't have

         25  certification, I just say just don't let them in.
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          2  We're not going to let this person spread lead paint

          3  dust all over the apartment. But unfortunately, when

          4  an exterminator knocks on the door of a New York

          5  City apartment and says I know what I'm doing

          6  regarding a bed bug problem, there is no way to

          7  really check and you just have to take it on faith.

          8  And often what happens is you have two or three

          9  recommendations because you have an exterminator

         10  that just simply does not know what they're doing,

         11  and then eventually you have the real exterminator,

         12  but the time and inconvenience, money lost is

         13  irretrievable.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, thank you.

         15                 Council Member Brewer, do you have

         16  questions?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: One question

         18  is inspections. Now, we heard earlier from the

         19  Department of Health that they don't, say they don't

         20  do inspections. Now, in Housing Court I know you are

         21  working with the judicial system, often inspections

         22  are ordered. How do you handle bed bugs? In other

         23  words, somebody says they have bed bugs, how does

         24  the inspection process work? Because that's one of

         25  the reasons I want intra-agency task force, to be
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          2  able to address this kind of intra-agency challenge.

          3                 I think in San Francisco we learned

          4  that there is sort of a cross-training on this, is

          5  what we need here. So, how do you handle inspections

          6  on bed bugs?

          7                 MR. DeCASTRO: Oh, well, I can do it

          8  step-by-step.

          9                 What takes place is a tenant would

         10  either request an inspection in Housing Court or

         11  would call 3-1-1 and ask HPD to come and inspect,

         12  and what I've seen is, in my experience, HPD

         13  generally does accurately inspect and can find

         14  traces of bed bug infestation, if in fact there are

         15  bed bugs there. And so the inspection part is fairly

         16  competent.

         17                 Then what happens is the violation is

         18  entered permanently -- well, not permanently but

         19  it's entered into the HPD database until measures

         20  have been taken to correct the problem and take the

         21  violation off.

         22                 Then for a large number of these bed

         23  bug cases that go to court, usually by the time they

         24  go to court the tenant is ready to give up their

         25  apartment and move out, in a very large amount of
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          2  those cases. Which if in fact the tenant does move

          3  out, sometimes the tenant is even given a monetary

          4  payment to move out for various reasons, then the

          5  inspection -- the violation is still on the

          6  apartment and is still accessible.

          7                 However, there is no action plan

          8  whatsoever to take care of that violation. In other

          9  words, that violation could stay on that apartment

         10  for 30 years, and nobody at HPD or anywhere else

         11  will actually take action to correct the violation.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And then, Mr.

         13  Wenk, I know you have spoke recently at a

         14  conference. I know you referred to it, and we knew

         15  about it in advance, and you talked about some of

         16  the other places in which legislation is pending.

         17                 Did you find in those discussions

         18  that there was any particular remedy that was

         19  particularly effective?

         20                 MR. WENK: Well, the San Francisco law

         21  just came out at the end of August.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         23                 MR. WENK: The woman that reported on

         24  that just came back and said the legislation was

         25  passed. So, we don't know what effect it's had.
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          2                 As of Hawaii, I don't think that

          3  statute has passed yet. And that's more of a, I

          4  don't think there's actions that are going to be

          5  taken as a result of that. It's more of an education

          6  campaign. They're not going to hire inspectors, it's

          7  not guidelines.

          8                 And as for Boston, I know they're

          9  enforcing it. I don't know exactly what they're

         10  doing. We had the doctor from Harvard speak about it

         11  before and he spoke about the stickers and other

         12  things they're using, but the data probably doesn't

         13  show a decrease in bed bugs as a result of these

         14  ledgers.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Was there

         16  anything else that came out of the conference that

         17  could help us with prevention, even if it wasn't

         18  legislative?

         19                 MR. WENK: As I said before, I think

         20  the heat is something that needs to be explored.

         21  Heating the bed bugs up to kill them. Dogs to

         22  perform inspections, I think that might save some

         23  time and save some money.

         24                 A dog can inspect a hotel room in two

         25  minutes. That same activity takes a pest management
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          2  specialist two hours to do, or an hour and a half to

          3  two hours to do. So, I think the dogs are definitely

          4  something to look into.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          6                 And Mr. DeCastro, in terms of some of

          7  the judges, administrative judges, is there training

          8  that you can see that's going on in the court system

          9  on this topic? Obviously, you know, it's a challenge

         10  to figure out what to do?

         11                 MR. DeCASTRO: Yes. Well, most people

         12  don't know that Housing Court Judges are the most

         13  regularly-trained judges in the court system because

         14  the specificity of their body of law that they deal

         15  with.

         16                 And I know that at seminars,

         17  judicious seminars, the issue of bed bugs has been

         18  addressed. I think there is a high awareness among

         19  Housing Court judges that the bed bug problem is

         20  serious.

         21                 However, I would say that there is no

         22  consensus really about what is the best judicial

         23  approach to take, and that's unfortunate because of

         24  the unique aspects of the problem.

         25                 MS. SEELEY: And I would just like to
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          2  add, while the judges do appear to be coming more

          3  and more educated, the problem of having this

          4  condition addressed is the same problem all

          5  conditions in Housing Court being addressed, and

          6  that it's an overwhelmed judiciary and if the tenant

          7  is not educated to inform the judge this problem

          8  exists, it will not be addressed.

          9                 So, to me the number one thing we

         10  have to do is educate the public, that this is a

         11  problem that you have your landlord come and

         12  exterminate, that it is better to have your landlord

         13  exterminate and you to try something on your own,

         14  and that needs to be addressed quickly and

         15  thoroughly or it will just come back.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chair.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We've been joined

         19  by Council Member John Liu from Queens. Thank you

         20  for coming.

         21                 Did the panel get to see this?

         22                 MR. WENK: I didn't.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Get a chance to

         24  look at it and comment later on whether it's

         25  confusing. I think it gives people an idea that they
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          2  can grab anything off the shelf to fight bed bugs.

          3                 You know, he words it, and he did

          4  word it that they should use an exterminator, they

          5  said be very cautious about it, but they still say

          6  that you can go get something. We need to be very

          7  careful about over-the-counter usage of products.

          8                 The entomologist from Harvard and

          9  American Museum of Natural History did come up with

         10  some comments and ideas about how to eradicate them.

         11  I think hopefully we can get them to participate and

         12  continue discussions about that, to put better

         13  public guides out on how to deal with this

         14  situation.

         15                 MR. DeCASTRO: I'm familiar with the

         16  fact sheet that was put out by the Department of

         17  Health, New York Department of Health, regarding bed

         18  bugs, and it did prescribe something like you could

         19  get a bed spray over-the-counter and treat your own

         20  mattress and so forth, and I'm not sure whether that

         21  material that you received is the same material.

         22  However, in my experience it requires -- the one

         23  tenant who I am aware has actually self-treated and

         24  addressed his own problem actually illegally bought

         25  the chemicals on the Internet.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: That's enough of

          3  that. All right, thank you. Thank you very much for

          4  taking the time and spending the afternoon with us.

          5                 MR. DeCASTRO: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Next we'll have

          7  Mr. Ryan Trainer.  He's representing the

          8  International Sleep Products Association, and he's

          9  going to share with us his insights on this

         10  particular issue.

         11                 I want to thank you for your

         12  patience, Mr. Trainer. I know it's a long day and we

         13  started at 1:00, and we'll be here for a little

         14  while longer. I just heard you had to catch a

         15  flight, so... It was suggested that you should

         16  travel with hard case luggage.

         17                 MR. TRAINER: I'm not spending the

         18  night.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Oh, okay.

         20                 Whenever you're ready.

         21                 MR. TRAINER: Thank you very much. I

         22  appreciate it.

         23                 Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, members

         24  of the Committee. My name is Ryan Trainer. I'm the

         25  Executive Vice President and General Counsel for the
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          2  International Sleep Products Association, which is

          3  the trade association for the mattress industry. We

          4  represent manufacturers of new mattresses and

          5  suppliers of new components and services used by the

          6  mattress industry in the United States and

          7  throughout the world.

          8                 I appreciate the opportunity today to

          9  comment before this Committee on Bill No. 57, which

         10  would prohibit the sale of reconditioned mattresses

         11  within the City of New York, and establish a bed bug

         12  task force.

         13                 The mattress industry supports

         14  Introduction No. 57. In addition to the issues

         15  raised regarding bed bugs, we believe that this bill

         16  will help discourage unscrupulous commercial

         17  practices that tend to deceive consumers into

         18  thinking they are buying a new product, when in

         19  fact, they're not. And it will also rid the market

         20  of products that compose both health and safety

         21  risks in addition to the bed bug issues we've talked

         22  about today.

         23                 We also support the formation of the

         24  Bed Bug Task Force and are prepared to work with

         25  that group in examining the health impact of bed
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          2  bugs.

          3                 Since its inception over 90 years

          4  ago, my organization has been a strong proponent of

          5  state and local efforts to regulate the sale of

          6  reconditioned mattresses. We work closely with the

          7  International Association of bedding and furniture

          8  law officials whose members regulate reconditioned

          9  bedding to labeling and sanitation requirements.

         10                 It's important to recognize that

         11  reconditioning in a mattress can take several

         12  different forms. Typically the reconditioner simply

         13  sews a new fabric cover on the used mattress,

         14  leaving all of the used upholstery and padding

         15  materials underneath. In some cases the upholstery

         16  materials are removed and only the steel inner

         17  springs are used.

         18                 Sterilization processes, when used,

         19  consist of chemicals or heat treatment processes.

         20  Too often, however, state and local law enforcement

         21  officials find that reconditioned mattresses contain

         22  no label describing the products as used.

         23                 In fact, unscrupulous sales

         24  representatives often tell the unsuspecting consumer

         25  that he or she is buying a brand new product when in
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          2  fact it is a reconditioned mattress.

          3                 It is also not unusual for inspectors

          4  to find that the reconditioner made absolutely no

          5  effort whatsoever to clean or sterilize the used

          6  materials before sewing on the new fabric cover.

          7                 Filth from the used mattress that lie

          8  just beneath the new fabric cover of a reconditioned

          9  product can be astounding.

         10                 Not only do inspectors find the dirt

         11  and normal soiling and staining that a mattress

         12  experiences over years of routine use, but they also

         13  can discover blood, urine, feces, insects, germs and

         14  other biological matter.

         15                 Attached to my written testimony are

         16  photos showing what the consumer can actually get

         17  when he or she purchases a reconditioned mattress.

         18  That's a sample that we purchased several years ago

         19  from a reconditioning facility in Maryland. Not only

         20  are these products disgusting, but they can also

         21  pose health and safety risks.

         22                 A common problem is that

         23  reconditioned mattresses often harbor dust mites in

         24  their droppings. Dust mites are small organisms that

         25  live off the dead skin cells that we all shed each
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          2  night as we sleep. Even if a used mattress contains

          3  no live dust mites, their droppings can be left

          4  behind.

          5                 Research has shown that some

          6  consumers are allergic to the dust mite droppings

          7  themselves, and that exposure to them can trigger

          8  asthma attacks in children, as well as adults.

          9                 In addition to these health risks,

         10  reconditioned mattresses can also pose safety risks,

         11  as well.

         12                 For example, as of July 1st, next

         13  year, 2007, all mattresses manufactured for sale in

         14  the United States must meet new federal rules that

         15  require them to resist ignition from an open flame

         16  heat source, such as a match, lighter or a candle.

         17                 The new rules are intended to avoid

         18  the tragic fires that can occur when children play

         19  with lighters in their bedrooms, or a lit candle

         20  falls into a bed and ignites it.

         21                 The new rules apply to manufacturers

         22  of new mattresses, as well as companies that

         23  recondition used mattresses. Nevertheless, the

         24  demanding design and manufacturing quality control

         25  that the new rules require make it unlikely that
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          2  many reconditioners will meet the new requirements.

          3                 The used mattresses that are

          4  reconditioned processes are simply too different in

          5  terms of style and materials for most reconditioners

          6  to comply with the new rules.

          7                 As a result, a reconditioner will

          8  endanger public safety if it does not attempt to

          9  sell recovered -- if it does attempt to sell

         10  recovered used mattresses that do not meet the new

         11  flammability standards.

         12                 For these reasons, the mattress

         13  industry supports Intro. No. 57. We believe that

         14  this bill will help discourage deceptive trade

         15  practices and will benefit consumer health and

         16  safety.

         17                 By comparison, consumers can avoid

         18  these problems when they buy new mattresses.

         19                 These products are made from all new

         20  materials and virgin fibers. Most mattress

         21  manufacturers are assemblers of fabric, steel

         22  springs, foam, fiber and other components used to

         23  make the finished product.

         24                 For efficiency, these producers

         25  operate largely on a just in time approach.
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          2                 That means their factory inventories

          3  of mattress components is very small, and they ship

          4  the finished mattresses to retail stores as soon as

          5  the product is assembled.

          6                 For example, it is not unusual for a

          7  mattress producer to receive components one day and

          8  to assemble them into a finished product, package

          9  the product and ship it to the retailer the next

         10  day.

         11                 Mattress producers take great pains

         12  to make Queen and quality products that will allow

         13  consumers to enjoy a safe and restful night's sleep.

         14                 At each stage of the assembly

         15  process, the components are stored in clean

         16  inventory areas that comply with applicable State

         17  sanitation laws. The assembly process also occurs in

         18  a clean environment. Once assembly is completed, and

         19  the finished product is inspected for quality

         20  defects, it is packaged, usually sealed in a durable

         21  plastic bag for shipment to the retailer.

         22                 The retailer does not remove the

         23  mattress from the shipping package until it is

         24  delivered to the consumer, either in the store or in

         25  the consumer's home.
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          2                 The retailer follows this practice in

          3  order to avoid triggering customer complaint and

          4  product return that would occur if an unpackaged

          5  mattress were delivered, damaged or soiled, from

          6  having been damaged in the inventory process or in

          7  the delivery of the mattress to the consumer.

          8                 If the consumer requests that the

          9  retailer install the new mattress in the consumers

         10  home, the delivery staff bring the packaged product

         11  into the home, remove the protective covering, set

         12  up the mattress as required, and remove the

         13  packaging materials from the home. That way the

         14  consumer receives a clean, undamaged and

         15  factory-fresh mattress made from all new components.

         16                 In addition to supporting this bill's

         17  proposed ban on reconditioned mattresses, we also

         18  support formation of the task force, and would be

         19  glad to contribute our know how to do that.

         20                 I do have one minor amendment that I

         21  would like to suggest for your consideration, and

         22  that has to do with the definition of what

         23  components are used in a mattress. In particular,

         24  the draft specifically references only cotton and

         25  foam rubber. We would suggest that the word cotton
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          2  be modified and instead substitute fiber, and that

          3  the word rubber be deleted before the word foam,

          4  because there are other types of foam in addition to

          5  latex foam that are used in mattresses.

          6                 Thank you for this opportunity, and I

          7  would be glad to answer any questions you might

          8  have.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you for

         10  your testimony, and we appreciate you coming today

         11  and staying with us. It's pretty clear that you

         12  support the idea and you want to make sure that the

         13  remanufacturers are brought to a higher level of

         14  standard and responsibility.

         15                 Is this a federal bill that you're

         16  addressing?

         17                 MR. TRAINER: The new flammability

         18  standard? Yes, it was issued by the Consumer

         19  Products Safety Commission in March of this year.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And it will be in

         21  effect in July 2007 you think?

         22                 MR. TRAINER: Yes, sir.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         24  Brewer.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I think what
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          2  you're saying in terms of mattresses traveling is

          3  that when they are traveling as a new mattress

          4  they're covered. Because one of the concerns is, I

          5  know that when we order mattresses as residents of

          6  New York, we often ask that the company take the old

          7  mattress away, and there was some concern, and it is

          8  addressed that when the old mattress leaves the home

          9  and goes onto the truck, they could -- you don't

         10  know if there are bed bugs in it, you have no way of

         11  knowing, but it could bump against new mattresses.

         12                 What you're saying is that new

         13  mattresses are always covered, in terms of their

         14  travel; is that correct?

         15                 MR. TRAINER: To the best of my

         16  knowledge, yes. And the retailer has a strong

         17  incentive to leave it in the factory packaging.

         18                 I've never seen a mattress

         19  manufacturer that ships the mattress without sealing

         20  it, and the retailer would be foolish to remove it

         21  from the package before it delivers it to the

         22  consumer's home, because the first thing a consumer

         23  does is looks for snags or smudges, and that's an

         24  automatic return.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.
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          2                 And do you get complaints about bed

          3  bugs? Not necessarily, obviously, to your

          4  manufacturers, because I assume they're new and it

          5  wouldn't be such an issue, but is this something

          6  that you've heard about as an issue? Obviously,

          7  mattresses as we've heard today, and we know, are

          8  not the only place that bed bugs live.

          9                 MR. TRAINER: We're aware of it from

         10  your bill, from the Popular Press.  We've spoken to

         11  some entomologists about it. We surveyed our

         12  manufacturing members in preparation for my

         13  testimony and none of them had received any

         14  complaints regarding their products.

         15                 We have a website that's geared for

         16  the consumers. It's run by a group we call "The

         17  Better Sleep Council," and we do have information on

         18  there, largely information that's consistent with

         19  what the experts have talked about today, in terms

         20  of ridding your house, if you do have a problem

         21  there.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         23                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         24                 MR. TRAINER: You're welcome.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Mr. Trainer, I
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          2  want to thank you for coming and for submitting your

          3  extensive comments on this issue. And I hope that we

          4  can be in touch with you as we move forward.

          5                 MR. TRAINER: So do I. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

          7                 Next we have some exterminators. Mr.

          8  Larry Chase, from Therma Pure; Mr. Gil Bloom; Mr.

          9  Ben Weisel and Mr. Jeff Eisenberg.

         10                 I'll let you gentlemen determine who

         11  goes first.

         12                 MR. BLOOM: They chose me.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Hi. Identify

         14  yourself for the record.

         15                 MR. BLOOM: Hi. Good afternoon. My

         16  name is Gil Bloom, with the New York State Pest

         17  Management Association. I have a pest control

         18  business in New York City, but I do a lot of

         19  consulting and training to various agencies. That

         20  information is contained in my packet.

         21                 Cimex lectularius, commonly referred

         22  to as "bed bugs," has not only become a nuisance

         23  pest but increasingly is manifesting itself as a

         24  quality of life pest.

         25                 In late 1999, I noticed a rise of
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          2  incidents and set out to survey it with the aid of a

          3  colleague from Cornell University.

          4                 At that time, what we found was that

          5  the bed bugs were definitely on the rise, and they

          6  were spreading slowly across the City. Originally

          7  there were some hot spots, more recent information

          8  indicates that their activity is no longer confined

          9  to any geographic areas, nor are they limited by any

         10  other socioeconomic factors.

         11                 One of the factors we sought to gain

         12  information on was the method of introduction of bed

         13  bugs into a household. Travel, entertaining

         14  overnight guests and occupations, such as visiting

         15  nurses, case workers, all had a potential for

         16  creating a problem. However, one item which seemed

         17  to be a factor in a significant number of cases was

         18  the introduction of a questionable mattress.

         19                 It may have come from a store,

         20  on-line, or from a guy down the street, or from some

         21  other source, but unwittingly, people were buying

         22  bed bugs by the ounce along with their new mattress,

         23  pull out of futon.

         24                 Ergo, in light of these facts, I

         25  heartily endorse the proposed legislation in regard
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          2  to the sale of used, or as we now call them,

          3  "pre-owned mattresses."

          4                 On a second front is the continuation

          5  of the battle against bed bugs themselves.

          6                 It is important to understand that

          7  chemical methods alone will not stop their advance,

          8  nor do any biological predators provide a viable

          9  alternative.

         10                 Since becoming involved back in 1999,

         11  I have been interviewed on numerous occasions and

         12  I've written several articles and flyers in regard

         13  to bed bug education.

         14                 In addition, I have addressed

         15  numerous groups ranging from a joint New York State

         16  DEC, EPA inspector training conference, to social

         17  service case workers to concerned tenants, and all

         18  of these efforts have served to convince me that

         19  what bed bug control requires to be successful is

         20  cooperation. And that boils down to education.

         21                 If a Committee is to be formed on

         22  which I would be willing to serve, it must not only

         23  gain accurate field information to be effective, but

         24  it must be able to evaluate it and turn it into an

         25  effective multi-cultural information and educational
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          2  program.

          3                 And of this program, an important

          4  target group must be children, as they are the

          5  bridge to many parents. They tend to see things on a

          6  more micromanaged level, and, finally, they have the

          7  patience and interest to look to them as they

          8  themselves are too often these victims of vampires

          9  of the night.

         10                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         11  address the Council, and sleep tight.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Next.

         13                 MR. CHASE: Thank you, Council

         14  Members, Council Member Brewer, for sponsoring this.

         15                 My name is Larry Chase, and I am a

         16  Vice President with E-Therm, Incorporated. I am here

         17  as a representative of technology, that is a proven

         18  pest management process and is deployed either

         19  without the use of chemicals or in concert with

         20  reduced levels.

         21                 I'll explain this process in more

         22  detail, but simply, it is analogous to structural

         23  pasteurization, and like the process invented by

         24  Louie Pasteur nearly 150 years ago, it's just heat.

         25  We call it Therma-Pure. E-Therm is the licensing
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          2  company for ThermaPure.

          3                 Therma-Pure is the application of

          4  heat to a structure, part of a structure or a

          5  structure's contents for the purpose of killing

          6  insects, mold, bacteria and viruses, and for

          7  structural drawing.

          8                 It was awarded the best new product

          9  by the National Association of Professional

         10  Engineers. We have successfully completed tens of

         11  thousands of jobs for residences, businesses, local

         12  and state governments and federal agencies across

         13  North America.

         14                 ThermaPure was developed by Drs.

         15  Charles Forbes and Walter Ebeling as a non-chemical

         16  alternative for pest control, specifically dry wood

         17  termites. Since then it has evolved into a process

         18  which will not only kill insects, but it can also be

         19  used to improve the indoor air quality of the

         20  structure.

         21                 An environmental expert, Michael

         22  Geyer, PE and CIH, wrote in a recent article about

         23  the technology: "ThermaPure does a better job."

         24                 ThermaPure offers a unique solution

         25  to indoor pest control issues. By applying heat
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          2  evenly throughout a structure, we are able to kill

          3  indoor pests in all of their harborages without the

          4  use of chemicals. ThermaPure will kill all of the

          5  growth stages of the bed bugs, including the eggs.

          6  This is an important fact, given that not all

          7  current pesticide control methodologies kill bedbug

          8  eggs. This means that ThermaPure can eradicate the

          9  entire bedbug infestation in a single treatment,

         10  whereas most chemical treatments require at least

         11  two.

         12                 ThermaPure will penetrate into all of

         13  the harborages where bedbugs reside. Our process

         14  will force heat into beds, bedding, mattresses,

         15  furniture, electronics, wall cavities, et cetera,

         16  leaving no place for bed bugs to hide.

         17                 The ThermaPure process can be scaled

         18  to successfully treat an entire structure, a portion

         19  of a structure or a structure's contents. We have

         20  successfully performed heat treatments in nine-story

         21  hotel facilities, open corridor motels,

         22  single-family homes and single apartments with

         23  common walls.

         24                 Other structures include police

         25  stations, fire stations, hospitals, health care
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          2  centers, and even vehicles used to transport people.

          3                 There has been considerable

          4  documentation citing the temperature and time

          5  correlations which are necessary to kill bed bugs

          6  and their eggs. Adults and nymphs die within 15

          7  minutes at temperature greater than 113 degrees

          8  Fahrenheit, and 60 minutes to kill eggs at this

          9  temperature. Raising room temperatures above the

         10  thermal death point and maintaining that temperature

         11  for several hours should eliminate bed bug

         12  infestation.

         13                 The temperature required to kill bed

         14  bugs and their eggs fall easily within the

         15  temperature ranges achieved by ThermaPure. The low

         16  thermal death point of bed bugs allows ThermaPure

         17  technicians to better adapt the process to the

         18  building and its contents, while still achieving

         19  efficacy.

         20                 This requires a rapid increase in

         21  temperatures or the bugs will flee, potentially

         22  spreading the infestation. Building heating systems

         23  are not capable of rapidly increasing the

         24  temperature.

         25                 ThermaPure can easily penetrate into
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          2  all of the cracks and crevices which act as bedbug

          3  harborages. A specific protocol for treating bedbugs

          4  in hotels using heat was developed by Bill Currie,

          5  formerly of the Integrated Pest Management

          6  Institute. Components of this protocol include:

          7  conducting a thorough inspection of each suspected

          8  site to confirm the presence of bedbugs; using

          9  temperature monitoring equipment in known

         10  harborages; heating surrounding rooms to prevent

         11  migration; and use of filtration to manage aerosol.

         12                 A major component of the process used

         13  to heat a structure is convection.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Mr. Chase, we

         15  have your statement written, can you just sum it up,

         16  please.

         17                 MR. CHASE: Sure.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I appreciate you

         19  going through this, but the specific methodology and

         20  all of the technicalities, if you could just go to

         21  the summation, I'd appreciate it.

         22                 MR. CHASE: Well, the summation is

         23  that it's a non-chemical treatment that increases

         24  the temperature of a structure to kill various types

         25  of biological contamination. It's been used
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          2  successfully in that manner.

          3                 The difficulty, we do not have

          4  licensees in New York. I think the combinations of

          5  requirements are what have prevented licensees. Most

          6  licensees are environmental contractors, and so are

          7  not pest control operators. Certainly pest control

          8  operators could license the technology.

          9                 But it's a different approach to the

         10  problem. It's a non-chemical approach.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And where have

         12  you used this? What states?

         13                 MR. CHASE: The technology originated

         14  in California with dry wood termites. But we've used

         15  it in most states. It's been used for mold, it's

         16  been used for bacteria. But termites are primarily

         17  in the southwest. So, for pest control purposes,

         18  California, Arizona, Texas.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. All right.

         20  I want to thank you for coming down.

         21                 Next person.

         22                 MR. EISENBERG: Hi. My name is Jeff

         23  Eisenberg, the owner of Pest Away Exterminating.

         24  We've been in business for about 17 years.

         25                 About 12 years ago we started to
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          2  notice bed bugs. In the beginning, like most

          3  companies, they haven't seen a bed bug in 20 or 30

          4  years, and as we started to see these pop up in

          5  hotels and hospitals, we started to try to learn

          6  more about them, and the more we learned, the more

          7  nervous we got.

          8                 Like Paul Revere, we went on the

          9  streets for a few years saying, these are very, very

         10  deadly, and very tricky in terms of the way they

         11  spread. People thought we were crazy, because no one

         12  has ever heard of them for 30 years, and it's

         13  something you tell your kids at night.

         14                 I'm going to try to avoid repeating

         15  what everyone else has said today, to make it easier

         16  for everyone, but I could tell you that we've gotten

         17  a tremendous amount of coverage because we kind of

         18  called the market 12 years ago and we said it's

         19  going to be a major problem, and pretty much over

         20  the last three years we have seen what I would

         21  characterize as a bed bug epidemic in New York City

         22  and the surrounding areas.

         23                 We get several hundred calls a week

         24  for bed bugs, and most of the people are quite

         25  hysterical. It hasn't proven that they do spread
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          2  disease. Thank God for that. But there is definitely

          3  a mental health issue, and I want to emphasize that

          4  part of it because, you know, a good part of my job

          5  every day is playing psychiatrist. I have very, you

          6  know, stable people, you know, neurosurgeons,

          7  psychiatrists, doctors, lawyers, men and women

          8  literally cry in my office every single day. Cry.

          9  They don't sleep for days at end. They spend

         10  fortunes getting rid of problems. They spend

         11  fortunes going to many companies to stop their

         12  problem, they weren't able to, and they kind of come

         13  to me to pick up the pieces.

         14                 Over the last nine, ten months we've

         15  done over 100 interviews. The New York Times kind of

         16  brought this to light, which helped New York City

         17  quite a bit, because for the first time it educated

         18  New York about bed bugs.

         19                 I think the epidemic was spread for

         20  several years, simply because a lack of education.

         21  People went to their doctors, they had rashes, they

         22  scratched and they thought it could be everything

         23  but a bed bug. Meanwhile, during this time they're

         24  spreading to their neighbors, their friends, their

         25  boyfriends, girlfriends, their co-workers and
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          2  everywhere they go, without realizing this was a bed

          3  bug. And I think that's how this whole problem

          4  became an epidemic. At least when we had all that

          5  coverage and all the news that covered it, the New

          6  York Times, people now when they get bites, they

          7  think bed bugs, which is helpful, and that's going

          8  to I think hopefully start turning the tide back,

          9  you know, in the favor of control. But it's a very

         10  real problem, and education is probably our best

         11  weapon at this point to start the process.

         12                 You know, all these technologies that

         13  were discussed in here I have looked at in the last

         14  three, four years, if I don't use them, there's

         15  probably a good reason I don't use them. But we need

         16  to educate New York and try to get a little

         17  legislation to help curtail this problem.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Next

         19  person.

         20                 MR. WEISEL: Good afternoon. My name

         21  is Ben Weisel. I'm the President of Metro Pest

         22  Control, and when we first -- about ten or 12 years

         23  ago, we first started getting calls about bed bugs,

         24  and what we invariably found was people had bought a

         25  new mattress, there was always something to do with
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          2  new furniture or new mattresses in association with

          3  the bed bugs. And as time went on, from 1995, we

          4  started getting more and more calls on a regular

          5  basis.

          6                 Today we get probably 50 calls a week

          7  pertaining to bed bugs, and what we find that has to

          8  be done is the preparation for a bed bug treatment

          9  is very, very important. There is a vacuuming that

         10  has to be done, there is washing of clothing that

         11  has to be done, there is a lot of things that have

         12  to be done in order to have an effective treatment

         13  done.

         14                 What is very important what we're

         15  finding is that if an apartment has bed bugs, we

         16  have to survey the building to see who else has

         17  them. A lot of people won't mention what they have,

         18  they're embarrassed, they're concerned, and once we

         19  survey the building, we find that there is a central

         20  area where the problem began, and from there we can

         21  achieve better control.

         22                 What we also find, that it's

         23  important to treat all the furniture, all of the

         24  bedding, all of the areas that create a good habitat

         25  for bed bugs, and with that, with the preparation,
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          2  we can find results.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I thank the panel

          4  for coming down. Do you have any questions, Council

          5  member?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I also want to

          7  thank the panel. I know that you worked with us over

          8  time to try to address some of these issues, and I

          9  wanted to just get a sense of what you think an

         10  education campaign should consist of, who should be

         11  involved, then what kind of message we could bring

         12  to people, because you have the expertise in really

         13  getting rid of them. There are so many issues. There

         14  is a cost factor for those who are in buildings

         15  where there isn't the ability to pay, and so some

         16  people end up in court, and it's not necessarily the

         17  owner's fault, it's not the tenant's fault, but it

         18  ends up being an issue.

         19                 So, how would you suggest that an

         20  education campaign be instituted?

         21                 I don't know, Jeff, if you want to

         22  start.

         23                 MR. EISENBERG: Sure.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Or Gil.

         25                 MR. EISENBERG: Firstly I think you
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          2  need to start with the doctors. There are

          3  dermatologists that are very professional in many

          4  things, but they really don't know the first thing

          5  about bed bug bites, and the unethical ones will do

          6  biopsies on the bites, and everyone knows, or people

          7  should know, that biopsies cannot detect the

          8  salivary protein that is found in a bed bug, and

          9  what they've done is just charged someone or their

         10  insurance $800 for something which they can never,

         11  ever determine.

         12                 So, the doctors should know not to

         13  start guessing, say it is bed bugs, not bed bugs,

         14  and it should be almost a law that if they think

         15  it's bed bugs, they should not do a biopsy.

         16                 The dermatologist should really for

         17  the first time, as many doctors do, refer their

         18  patients to me, and more people should be referring

         19  them to professional pest control technicians.

         20                 The second thing is the do nots.

         21  People who think they have bed bugs should not throw

         22  out their mattress, they should not ever bomb or

         23  spray themselves, and they should not throw out any

         24  furniture until treated, because that is just

         25  increasing the likelihood of spreading the problem
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          2  to neighbors, friends and people in the street and

          3  whoever is unfortunate enough to find, you know, a

          4  great bargain on the street.

          5                 People should just know what some of

          6  the symptoms are, what they look like. The Internet

          7  has tremendous amounts of information and resources,

          8  but there's also a lot of bad information.

          9                 There should be stronger legislation

         10  against people being able to purchase restricted

         11  pesticides outside the state or on the Internet and

         12  using them in their homes. People are using products

         13  like Dry-on (phonetic), they're getting them on the

         14  Internet or outside the state and they're using it

         15  in a very hazardous manner which is posing a risk to

         16  both themselves and their neighboring apartments and

         17  their children.

         18                 I believe that people should campaign

         19  over what they should do and not to do: Don't pick

         20  up furniture from the street, don't buy products

         21  from Craig's List. If it's too cheap, then they

         22  should really look elsewhere.

         23                 MR. BLOOM: I just want to address one

         24  or two things there. Professional bed bug jobs can

         25  cost $300 to $1,000. So, some people need to be able
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          2  to do that themselves. The importance of that is

          3  that they understand and respect the pesticides that

          4  they are using and that they use them properly.

          5                 That comes to education. If you have

          6  a Captain's bed, which is very common in people who

          7  have a number of children, you need to turn that bed

          8  over, upside down, remove the draws. In many

          9  households, that's not easy to do. It's getting

         10  behind pictures, in smoke detectors. To understand

         11  that you need to take a business card and run it in

         12  all the places that that business card could fit,

         13  these are the type of places that bed bugs hide.

         14                 And the children I think are the

         15  root. I discussed this with the West Nile virus when

         16  this came out. Many people don't necessarily speak

         17  English, or we can't convey the information that

         18  they do or in Spanish. The children very often are

         19  the bridge to reach the parents, to explain the

         20  thoroughness, the getting on your hands and knees

         21  and down on the floor and up under the bed, to

         22  really try and do this.

         23                 And I think some of the initiative

         24  should go (a) with respect to pesticides, and also

         25  controlling pests and understanding what are not
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          2  pests is through the educational system.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I'm curious. How

          5  much is the heating system? How much is it to heat?

          6                 MR. CHASE: It's comparable to

          7  pesticides. I think one of the keys is that where

          8  you have an infestation, you have to heat or treat

          9  surrounding areas. So, a heat protocol in a hotel

         10  room, for example, would be to heat not only the

         11  infested room, but rooms around it, below it and

         12  above it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And in your

         14  experience, to the panel, if you find it in one

         15  apartment, does it normally go and spread to the

         16  other apartments?

         17                 Do you have to check on the one

         18  apartment primarily?

         19                 MR. WEISEL: Yes, it's very important

         20  to examine the apartments adjacent. Any apartment

         21  that abuts the apartment that has the problem could

         22  be the cause of the problem. It really is very, very

         23  important to get the adjacent apartments inspected.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. All right.

         25                 You pretty much answered all of our
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          2  questions that we put together. Clearly, we're

          3  losing ground on this and we need to do more to work

          4  on trying to get the public aware of what they need

          5  to do to combat this.

          6                 Council Member Brewer.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: In terms of

          8  training, I know that we go through a lot of

          9  training, and I know that you are regulated by the

         10  State. Is bed bugs part of the training that goes

         11  on? Obviously people here are extremely

         12  knowledgeable, and I don't want to cast dispersions,

         13  because I know there's an industry that works hard

         14  and we respect greatly the professional, but how

         15  does the training take place, and do you think it

         16  should be improved in terms of this particular

         17  challenge.

         18                 MR. CHASE: I think (a) all pest

         19  control applicators need to be certified. The bed

         20  bug is included on the manual and is included on the

         21  test. Bed bugs are to the entire industry, as they

         22  are to everybody else, a learning curve over the

         23  past eight years or so.

         24                 What is the effective strategy to get

         25  them? It's still very much indifferent. Heat is an
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          2  alternative, sometimes it's an easy option,

          3  sometimes it's less of an option, freezing them. You

          4  know, people are learning. People will prepare their

          5  apartment more so and less so. We heard mentioned

          6  before pyrethrin, quote, is a good product to use

          7  for them. Under New York City's LL 37, pyrethrin

          8  would not be able to be used in a New York City

          9  Housing building, or any other New York City

         10  facility. So, whether it's good or not is

         11  irrelevant. It can't be used, and that's part of the

         12  problem with a lot of bed bugs.

         13                 DDT when it was available, not that

         14  we're advocating it should come back, but it solved

         15  the problem. Now it's going into the trenches and

         16  finding all of these areas, whether it's applying a

         17  dust or what have you, is expertise.

         18                 I have someone who did just bed bug

         19  jobs. He's going to be better than somebody who does

         20  four or five different things. There is no specific

         21  certification for anybody doing bed bug control.

         22                 MR. CHASE: If I could just add one

         23  thing, I'm going to go on the record with another

         24  alert.

         25                 New York has a very minimum number of
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          2  pesticides that are labeled for treatment of bed

          3  bugs, and we are doing a tremendous amount of bed

          4  bug work, as many companies are.

          5                 New Jersey has a number of more

          6  products that are labeled for bed bugs. We are very

          7  seriously running the risk of creating an immunity

          8  or resistance problem to these bed bugs, and if we

          9  don't get some of these other products that some of

         10  these other states are using, we're going to have a

         11  much more serious problem than we have now, because

         12  we're going to be saying, wow, I know they're hard

         13  to get rid of but this used to work when I did all

         14  these things, and now they don't work at all. We're

         15  going to hit a brick wall, and that's going to be a

         16  serious problem that's going to hit our State

         17  anywhere in the next two to seven years. Because at

         18  some point all insects become immune and get

         19  resistant to pesticides when used too often.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Oh. Thank you for

         21  that very disappointing ending.

         22                 I want to thank the panel. I want to

         23  thank the exterminators for being here, and I hope

         24  you can also continue to be a resource, too, as we

         25  deal with this issue, and thank you for those alerts
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          2  as well.

          3                 MR. CHASE: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Now we're going

          5  to hear from public testimony.

          6                 Deborah Lynn, Pearl Edwards, and Ken

          7  Grey.

          8                 MS. LYNN: Okay, first of all, I don't

          9  want to digress too much, but Ken and I are a

         10  support group for people who have had bed bugs. We

         11  belong to a support group. This is a monster bug.

         12  There is nothing funny or humorous or fairytale

         13  about a bed bug. It's life destroying. And I think

         14  one of the reasons we're seeing a resurgence in bed

         15  bugs is because things like, which nobody mentioned

         16  today, airplanes used to deinsecticide the

         17  airplanes. That was standard procedure. And some

         18  time in the late- mid-1990s, because of people's

         19  political correctness and paranoia over insecticides

         20  they stopped deinsecticiding airplanes, and it is

         21  known -- my friend had a friend coming home from

         22  Italy whose husband found two bed bugs on her

         23  crawling on the overnight flight from Italy, okay?

         24                 The person who brought bed bugs into

         25  my home brought them in on infected luggage from the
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          2  airline.

          3                 DDT was banned in 1972 in the United

          4  States, however, in other countries it was still

          5  being used. It was phased out completely in Mexico,

          6  in the Year 2000.

          7                 Now, you can draw the correlation,

          8  okay? That we've seen a rise in bed bugs in the

          9  United States from international travel because DDT

         10  was banned in countries. It's completely banned now.

         11                 It was misused, over bad willy-nilly

         12  spraying of crops, but indoor residual spraying of

         13  DDT was the most effective combat to bed bugs.

         14                 Harold Stein, a national pest

         15  management president, said in 1972, when he would

         16  get a bed bug call, it was $18 and one visit. I have

         17  spent $7,000 in extermination, okay? To Arrow Pest

         18  Company, $3,400 to exterminate a small cape cod

         19  home, still got bit. Still got bit. Then I paid

         20  Orkin a thousand dollars. So that's $4,400 for one

         21  house. I put all my furniture into a pod and had it

         22  sprayed with pyrethrins. They charged me $900 a

         23  shot. So, that's $1,800 for the pod and $4,400 for

         24  the house. And there are no guarantees. This has

         25  been a financial devastation for my husband and I. I
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          2  have thrown away $9,000 worth of mattresses and

          3  bedding. There's reasons why. For me it was the

          4  perfect storm, okay? Because I used to own a home

          5  and then we rented and the bed bugs showed up in a

          6  200-year-old carriage house. I owned a home for 28

          7  years out Nashroke in New York, and we sold it last

          8  year and moved into a rental, and then they showed

          9  up in the rental house where I was living with these

         10  big floor boards with cracks and crevices. And the

         11  exterminator said, "Lady, you're never going to get

         12  rid of them in this house." So, we moved to my

         13  mother-in-law's house who was dying and brought them

         14  there.

         15                 I did everything. I bagged, I did

         16  everything. Remember the Butch Cassidy and the

         17  Sundance Kid and the guy said, "Who are these guys?"

         18  You know what I'm talking about? These buts are so,

         19  what's the word? Tenacious. Who are these bugs? They

         20  follow you. And there is so much misinformation we

         21  got today. This gentleman from Harvard, I'm sorry to

         22  say, it is on the Internet that they have been known

         23  to spread Hepatitis.

         24                 Also, they're tremendous

         25  hitch-hikers. My husband found one in the middle of
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          2  the afternoon on my back as we were moving from the

          3  other place.

          4                 Today putting mattresses, it's

          5  ridiculous -- even if it's a wrapped mattress,

          6  they're putting mattresses, new mattresses next to

          7  picked up mattresses. You can't do that. How do you

          8  know that the guys who are delivering them, even if

          9  the mattresses are wrapped, they crawl up you. I

         10  mean, do you understand that they do this? I'm not

         11  making this up, okay? My husband found it on my

         12  back, okay? Anyways, let me just read what I wrote

         13  here.

         14                 Okay, I told you about, in the

         15  civilized world, nobody could be expected to live

         16  with bed bugs, okay? You can't get into your bed

         17  knowing that they're going to come out at night and

         18  they're going to suck your blood. They crawl on your

         19  body and they take a minimum of three minutes, a

         20  maximum of ten to 12 minutes. Now, that's a thought

         21  I don't think anybody in America can really live

         22  with, okay? I'm just an American, do you know what I

         23  mean? I don't live in another country where maybe

         24  people live with them. The thought of bugs crawling

         25  on my body, sucking my blood at night, okay, yes, I
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          2  moved, I got rid of all my clutter, all my stuff is

          3  in pods, I'm sleeping on a $99 air bed mattress,

          4  moved away from the wall, Vaseline, mineral cups;

          5  how long can I go on living like this? I mean, this

          6  is not right. My government has got to do something.

          7  Because I'm not spending another nickel on a

          8  mattress until this bug is eradicated.

          9                 I got a kid in college, okay? He

         10  comes home for Thanksgiving, I don't want him to

         11  come home because I'm terrified of his luggage. I'm

         12  telling you, get rid of all of your cloth luggage.

         13  Buy hard-case luggage. They came into my home

         14  through cloth luggage of this girl who I let stay.

         15  They make hard-case luggage now specially for bed

         16  bugs.

         17                 Bed bugs recognize the amount of

         18  carbon dioxide that you breathe out. That's how they

         19  track you, okay? That's how they hitch-hike on you.

         20  And they know when you're in rem sleep. They're

         21  vicious, okay?

         22                 And this not being a health issue. I

         23  was sitting there livid when this guy was talking

         24  about -- the anxiety this causes, lack of sleep, I'm

         25  on the block. I dealt with a woman from Brooklyn
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          2  last week, her name is Emmy. Her husband is a

          3  carpenter. She has triplets. Two and a half year old

          4  triplets, and she's looking to me for answers,

          5  because she's having a nervous breakdown. She's,

          6  "how do people live with this?" Well, I told her to

          7  buy a swimming pool, vinyl swimming pool to nest her

          8  children in at night, so that they can sleep without

          9  getting bitten. This is ridiculous.

         10                 Okay, the anxiety, as you can

         11  obviously tell that I am totally loaded with it. It

         12  is a health issue. I've spent -- oh, and then not

         13  talking about my mother-in-law's house, that I

         14  brought them there, and now I spent $4,400

         15  insecticiding that house with no guarantees. We

         16  moved out and my brother-in-laws are saying, unless

         17  I don't put the house on the market, I'm now

         18  responsible, because it was supposed to be put on

         19  the market in May, I'm now financially responsible

         20  for the differential. So, this bug has cost my

         21  husband and I probably about 70 grand when it's

         22  over.

         23                 Okay, the stigma. I used to be, you

         24  can tell, I'm a pretty social person, I have a lot

         25  of friends. I talk to no one anymore. Ken has become
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          2  my best friend, okay? Because I can't admit to my

          3  friends, I can't tell you my last name because my

          4  husband is a very influential businessman in Long

          5  Island. He said he'd divorce me if I gave my last

          6  name. Why? I'm the cleanest person in the world. My

          7  friends call me "a clean freak." This bug doesn't

          8  care about clean. It eats your blood. It sucks your

          9  blood. And it's a stigma. It's terrible. It's more

         10  stigma than rats or cockroaches, and there's nothing

         11  you could do about it.

         12                 Now, Mr. Chase, I believe your name

         13  is Mr. Chase, I'm sorry he didn't emphasize his

         14  ThermaPure treatment, I'm dying to hire his

         15  ThermaPure treatment because it kills the eggs. What

         16  nobody brought up here is they cannot get this --

         17  with the standard pesticides that they're using,

         18  okay? You've got to have a minimum of three

         19  applications, and they still don't guarantee it,

         20  okay? Because it doesn't kill the eggs.

         21                 So, you can never get this bug down

         22  to zero population. Never, okay? So, you've got to

         23  keep insecticiding, insecticiding. And then you

         24  gotta pray to the Lord above, okay? Now, ThermaPure,

         25  according to what Mr. Chase, and I spoke to also the
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          2  President of his company, it kills the eggs. So, I

          3  told him, I'm first on his list as a customer. I'll

          4  spend another $4,000, because I want to make sure

          5  when I put this house on the market, that's another

          6  thing that didn't come up here, what about real

          7  estate? What about when you're buying a home and you

          8  move into a home and you don't know if that home has

          9  bed bugs in it? That's a nightmare.

         10                 Okay, let's see, okay, so I just

         11  appeal to you, everybody here, even DDT, it got a

         12  bad rap. Go on the Internet, it's not bad pesticide.

         13  It was the one effective pesticide. It was misused

         14  agriculturally. They brought it back. Who? World

         15  Health Org, just brought it back in Africa, because

         16  people are dying by the -- it's ridiculous. You've

         17  got to weigh the risk versus the benefit. They have

         18  people dying by the hundreds of thousands of malaria

         19  in Africa. Finally Africa woke up and said we're

         20  bringing back DDT. It was just passed. When was it

         21  passed, Ken?

         22                 MR. GREY: Three days ago.

         23                 MS. LYNN: Three days ago. We're

         24  bringing -- we're not going to let hundreds of

         25  thousands of people die because you civilized
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          2  nations are telling us DDT is going to kill you.

          3                 I ran through the alleys in Chicago,

          4  behind the fog machines, there's a little girl

          5  loaded with DDT. My aunts and uncles spray DDT.

          6  Soldiers. That's another reason for the rights, it

          7  is international. Soldiers were dusted with DDT. It

          8  was the only effective pesticide. But because we're

          9  just such a nation of -- we just get, what's the

         10  word, Ken, we're saying? Whatever. We just get

         11  carried away with, you know, too politically

         12  correct.

         13                 I'm not saying abuse the use of DDT,

         14  but, boy, I'd love to get my hands on some.

         15                 Okay, so, just to end it up, I'm

         16  telling you that this bug has cost me thousands of

         17  dollars, has robbed me of my piece of mind. Do not

         18  underestimate what this bug can do to us.

         19                 Oh, here. Don't underestimate what

         20  this bug can cost us financially. Do you know where

         21  you can find these bugs? Hospitals, airplanes,

         22  hotels, movie theaters, flea markets, second-hand

         23  stores, clothing stores, nursing homes, auto

         24  rentals. Next time you rent a car, you better make

         25  sure that nobody had luggage in the car before you.
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          2  Buses, trains. It's everywhere. Real estate. So,

          3  don't underestimate it. Don't think it's just

          4  something to take lightly. It's a nightmare. A

          5  nightmare.

          6                 MR. GREY: I can't top that. Okay. No,

          7  Debbie and I have been communicating for quite some

          8  time. I'll be very brief. Another thing Debbie found

          9  out was that furniture rental companies, she talked

         10  to one man who is practically out of business

         11  because there is absolutely no guarantee they can

         12  have their stuff isn't infested.

         13                 One of the things I want to talk

         14  about that hasn't been alluded to is the shear

         15  stigma of this, and that in itself has caused what I

         16  believe, is a severe under-reporting of the problem.

         17                 It was said, I believe there were 400

         18  cases that were reported to the City. I think that's

         19  ridiculous. I think it's probably tens of thousands

         20  and nobody, myself included, I haven't reported it

         21  because I don't know how to deal with it.

         22                 I have an infestation in my building,

         23  I don't know where it came from. I'm blaming the

         24  building, they're blaming me. And I have one

         25  neighbor who said, oh, if my clothes get infested,
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          2  you're going to have to pay the cleaning bills on

          3  this already. And it's the overwhelming, oh, the one

          4  statement I heard, this is unbelievable, they said

          5  people would rather report they have venereal

          6  disease than admit they have a bed bug infestation.

          7                 Again, the hotel industry is never

          8  going to come clean with this for obvious reasons.

          9  There is a tremendous amount of infestation with the

         10  problem.

         11                 Oh, I wanted to say another part of

         12  the problem is that nobody knows until they actually

         13  see a bug that they're infested. And this happened

         14  in my case and I'm sure it's very typical, you can

         15  go for a very long time without seeing any evidence.

         16  The way I found it, it was my girlfriend actually

         17  had tremendous welts and wheels on her arms, and she

         18  went to doctors who misdiagnosed it, said it was an

         19  allergy to some food. Told her don't eat shellfish,

         20  and only when they manifested by actually seeing a

         21  bug or blood spots in the bed or finally fecal

         22  matter, which happened two months after her arms

         23  were covered with these markings, did it become

         24  apparent. So, you have a great deal of public who

         25  doesn't know what's going on. And that in itself is,
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          2  in this case was a two-month leap for more to breed

          3  and infest further.

          4                 Again, as far as another problem that

          5  wasn't addressed is with people throwing out things,

          6  is in addition to the contamination is you're

          7  increasing solid waste to the waste stream. But

          8  you're going to have an epidemic of people, it's

          9  true, it's absolutely true, the best thing I've

         10  heard is not to throw things out. Common sense

         11  dictates, let me get rid of it. Get it out of my

         12  apartment. And you're going to have -- I threw out a

         13  couch which was untreatable because of the nature of

         14  it. I tried everything, and it was a $2,500 couch,

         15  probably weighed 200 pounds, taking up so many cubic

         16  feet. Multiply that times as many people in this

         17  City and you're clogging up the waste stream.

         18                 Okay, again, just to reiterate, it

         19  didn't come out that much, was, as Debbie said was,

         20  one of the huge problem is the eggs, that there are

         21  no effective pesticides known to kill the eggs. The

         22  only thing that did was DDT and heat. So, they

         23  recommend washing at very high temperature, and

         24  perhaps the ThermaPure treatment. I only know what I

         25  read on the Internet. I really believe that the
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          2  public education needs to be upgraded, very much

          3  upgraded, and it's like everybody out of the closet,

          4  we just have mass confessional, myself included, and

          5  I pass.

          6                 MS. EDWARDS: I'm just going to add a

          7  little to that, because we listened to a lot of

          8  authoritative talks this afternoon. My testimony is

          9  really about my experience and how I discovered that

         10  I had bed bugs.

         11                 I was just listening to my colleagues

         12  here, and when I was outside giving interviews, I

         13  was kind of frantic like you were, because really,

         14  when you talk about it, it raises you, because it is

         15  such a harrowing experience, that when you start

         16  talking about it, finally you could speak about it,

         17  and you speak about it with such passion because you

         18  suppress really what you went through for so many

         19  months that when you're able to talk about it, you

         20  just become very passionate about it. But it's an

         21  awful, awful problem whenever you have bed bugs. So,

         22  I'm just going to read my testimony.

         23                 Last April, that's 2005, I had a

         24  mysterious rash on my arms and legs. I thought it

         25  was an allergic reaction to changing my laundry
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          2  detergent. It became so bad that I rewashed all my

          3  laundry in plain hot water several times, but to no

          4  avail. The rash became worse.

          5                 Then I took a five-day cruise and

          6  said to my daughter, if I'm just allergic to

          7  something in the house, or is there something else

          8  going on with my health, I'll find out on this

          9  cruise.

         10                 While on the cruise the rash almost

         11  disappeared. When I returned home, I was determined

         12  to see if there was something in my apartment that

         13  provoked this allergic reaction.

         14                 The first night of my return as I was

         15  sleeping, I began to itch uncontrollably. I woke up

         16  around 4:00 in the morning, pulled back the covers

         17  and lifted the pillows and there I found bugs

         18  crawling all around.

         19                 I panicked. My first impulse was to

         20  swoop them onto the floor and kill them. Instead, I

         21  caught them in a jar and decided to bring them to my

         22  job to get them analyzed at the lab.

         23                 That Saturday morning, as I was

         24  putting out my pillows in the trash, I saw my

         25  neighbor and started to tell her about the bugs. As
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          2  we were talking, the superintendent overheard us. He

          3  came to my apartment, I showed him the jar with the

          4  bugs I had caught the night before. He took the jar,

          5  saying the exterminators would be in the building

          6  later, and he would show the bugs to him.

          7                 About three hours later the

          8  superintendent and the exterminators returned and

          9  stated that they, indeed, were bed bugs. They told

         10  me that in order to get rid of them, I would have to

         11  leave the apartment for several hours. They would

         12  spray the bed and let off bombs. I returned several

         13  hours later and asked the super, how will I know if

         14  it worked? He said the only way you will know is if

         15  you sleep on the bed.

         16                 Shortly after I went to bed, I felt

         17  some bites and immediately got up and left the

         18  bedroom. I never returned after that.

         19                 When the super reported this incident

         20  to the landlord, they said this was an isolated

         21  incident and I was responsible for the

         22  exterminator's bills.

         23                 However, several days later, as I was

         24  discussing this with the super outside the building,

         25  another tenant came and joined our conversation. She
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          2  showed us where she also had this mysterious rash on

          3  her shoulders, arms and legs. The super then

          4  admitted that there were two other bed bug outbreaks

          5  in other buildings he also managed.

          6                 He told me the only thing that you

          7  can do to really get rid of them is to discard all

          8  my furniture.

          9                 I went on line and began to research

         10  bed bugs. It stated that these bugs are not that

         11  easy to get rid of. They nest in woodwork, behind

         12  pictures in the rims of chairs and mattresses and in

         13  your clothes.

         14                 I reported this incident to HPD, I

         15  will speak about that, and they claimed they came to

         16  inspect my apartment and left a notice, which I

         17  never received.

         18                 I called them back and was told the

         19  case was dropped.

         20                 After sleeping on a blow-up bed in

         21  plastic for several weeks, and avoid coming home

         22  from work, it was for my continued good mental

         23  health that I decided to move.

         24                 I continue to visit my church which

         25  is in my old neighborhood and notice that several
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          2  tenants began to put their bedding on the curb along

          3  with trash for the next day's pick-up.

          4                 At that point I knew this was an

          5  epidemic, and that many people were being affected.

          6                 It was then that I contacted Council

          7  Member Gale Brewer, after I read a newspaper article

          8  about a bill on bed bugs that she is trying to

          9  present.

         10                 My experience with bed bugs was very

         11  traumatic. I want people to know that this situation

         12  exists and that necessary precautions need to be

         13  taken to rid the City of this problem.

         14                 Now, I just want to say about the

         15  heat, after I found out that I had bed bugs, before

         16  I would leave my apartment in the morning, I would

         17  take my hairdryer and totally go over my body, the

         18  heat up real high, on all my clothes. When I woke up

         19  in the morning, I would take this blow-up bed, this

         20  plastic blow-up bed that every night I had to blow

         21  up, I would fold it all up and put it in plastic,

         22  because I was afraid to leave it any place in the

         23  apartment, because I didn't want these bugs to crawl

         24  into that. I didn't cook in my apartment after I

         25  found out that they were indeed bed bugs. I couldn't
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          2  go into the apartment, because your skin crawls.

          3  Once you know you have this infestation, and that

          4  there is no one there that is going to try and

          5  actually help you with the problem, because the

          6  landlord was in total denial until I approached him

          7  about the other apartments being infested as well,

          8  and I don't know what has happened since. I spoke to

          9  a neighbor, now, this was a year ago and still to

         10  this day there are tenants that have moved out

         11  because of this situation.

         12                 As far as HPD, I called 3-1-1, and

         13  they referred me over to HPD, and they labeled them.

         14  They said, I think I have bed bugs, they did not

         15  label it bed bugs, they said vermin and fleas. I

         16  said these are not fleas. I said this is bed bugs. I

         17  said the exterminator said that they're bed bugs.

         18  And the woman on the other side said we cannot call

         19  them bed bugs, we have to call them vermin.

         20                 So, maybe it has to be addressed that

         21  HPD indeed face the facts that they're bed bugs, and

         22  bed bugs have to be dealt with in a harsher way. The

         23  bombs that they let off in the apartment was just he

         24  went to the hardware store and they let off these

         25  bombs. It did not take care of the situation at all.

                                                            188

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 So, it was a very traumatic

          3  experience. I pray that no one in this room will

          4  have to deal with it. You could hear the passion in

          5  our voices, because it changes your life.

          6                 In fact, they called me to tell me

          7  about a trip for cheap -- I don't want to stay in

          8  any hotels. I go home on a bus to Jersey now, and

          9  when I go home on that bus I put plastic. People

         10  look at me like I'm crazy. I want to say to them,

         11  yeah, you don't know what I went through. I don't

         12  want to transport anything to you. I don't want

         13  people to come to my house and stay over because I

         14  don't know what they're bringing in. I have this

         15  here thing now, I just want to be by myself. Because

         16  until we can find out what we can do about this

         17  situation, it's bad. It ruins you.

         18                 MR. GREY: Just one more comment, I

         19  forgot. In regard to the pest control companies, if

         20  you call up for a reference, somebody who has been

         21  treated, it's not going to happen.

         22                 MS. LYNN: Yes, somebody brought up

         23  today something about references. No one is going to

         24  give a reference. I asked them. No one is going to

         25  say, oh, yeah, I had bed bugs. And why is that? I
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          2  did nothing. I did nothing. I just let a guest stay

          3  in my home. I did nothing. But somehow my world has

          4  just imploded. I don't want to get into it.

          5                 MS. EDWARDS: I just want to say that

          6  the building that I lived in, I said to the

          7  landlord, I said, you know, when I moved into this

          8  building you had to come and see where I lived, you

          9  had to check my references, you had to check my

         10  credit, you had to check my employment, I said, and

         11  I had to pass to get into the building. I said now

         12  you don't know who your neighbors are. They come in

         13  the middle of the night, with their stuff in

         14  blankets and they inhabit your space and whatnot.

         15  You don't even know who they are. They leave in the

         16  middle of the night. Who are these people? What are

         17  they bringing in these things that's not even

         18  looking like suitcases, just looking like rugs

         19  picked up off the floor?

         20                 So, we also have to think about

         21  issues like international traveling. You know,

         22  they're coming to us. These bugs are coming through.

         23  It's coming all kinds of ways and it has to be

         24  addressed.

         25                 MS. LYNN: The exterminator told me
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          2  that he had a building in Hicksville that was loaded

          3  with Honduran, I mean that's what he said to me,

          4  Honduran immigrants, he said he could not get rid of

          5  the bed bugs. No matter how many times he

          6  exterminated. Because they're illegal, so you know,

          7  I'm just telling you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I'd like to thank

          9  the panel. It's almost difficult to even come up

         10  with a -- other than I feel that -- I appreciate you

         11  being here, and, you know, I feel like I should give

         12  you a hug, but you don't want to touch people, but

         13  your cases are horrible, and unfortunately, that's

         14  why Council Member Brewer wanted to call attention

         15  to this, and I just feel, you know, that we will

         16  continue to do what we can on a City level to

         17  highlight and illuminate the problem.

         18                 Clearly, this is something that we

         19  have to figure out a way working together.

         20                 MS. LYNN: Can I just say one thing?

         21  Just quickly. I went and had my eyebrows waxed, and

         22  I had a bite, a bed bug bite right here, and because

         23  what did you say, Ken? The coagulation, it keeps

         24  bleeding or something, the way they put the stuff --

         25                 MR. GREY: Anticoagulate.
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          2                 MS. LYNN: Anticoagulate. So the woman

          3  waxed my eyebrow and she said, "what is this,

          4  Debbie? It keeps bleeding." I can't tell her it's a

          5  bed bug bite. So, I started to cry, and she said to

          6  me, Debbie, she goes, "Is there a problem here?" I

          7  said, "I got some problems, Grace." She said, "do

          8  your problems have some solutions?" And I started to

          9  cry even worse, because there's no solution to this.

         10  I've had to alter my lifestyle. My relationship with

         11  my husband and my son, who is in college, has

         12  grossly suffered, and there's just no solution. I'm

         13  not going to buy any -- all my furniture is in

         14  storage. I'm living like worse than I ever lived. I

         15  don't care, okay? But I'm 57 years old, I thought my

         16  life was going to get a little easier, you know? And

         17  now I'm living on an air bed, and I'm not buying

         18  anything until there is some solving of this

         19  problem. And exterminators, I'll show you the bills

         20  if you don't believe me.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: No, we believe

         22  you.

         23                 MS. LYNN: No guarantees. No

         24  guarantees.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We have two more
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          2  people that would like to testify, and we want to

          3  give them some time.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          5  much for coming forward. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I can say you

          7  don't look 57 at all.

          8                 Caitlin Heller, are you still here?

          9  And Dr. Norwell.

         10                 MS. HELLER: I don't have a lot to

         11  add. Pretty much everyone has said pretty much

         12  everything that there is to say. I had bed bugs. I

         13  had moved into my apartment two years, about a year

         14  and a half ago, and about two months later I found

         15  out I had bed bugs.

         16                 The first thing I did was searched

         17  the Internet. I wanted to find out as much as I

         18  could about it. A lot of information on the Internet

         19  is not reliable. I think that it's important to have

         20  -- I'm sorry, I'm very nervous.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Take your time.

         22                 MS. HELLER: I think it's very

         23  important to have information that is reliable from

         24  expert people.

         25                 One of the biggest things that helped
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          2  me was knowing that I was not the only person who

          3  had bed bugs. It was extremely -- I suffered a lot

          4  mentally. I couldn't sleep at night. I couldn't

          5  focus on anything during the day because of all of

          6  the itching and painful welts that I had all over my

          7  body, in very difficult places. Painful.

          8                 In the end I started a website for

          9  support for other people. I am not an expert on bed

         10  bugs. I had bed bugs, that's what makes me an

         11  expert.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: What's the name

         13  of your website?

         14                 MS. HELLER: It's called "The Bed Bug

         15  Blog."

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: The Bed Bug Blog.

         17  Okay.

         18                 MS. HELLER: Eventually I started a

         19  Yahoo support group. There are now over 60 members

         20  to that support group. I started it just about six

         21  or eight months ago. I get over 100 hits a day to my

         22  website, the majority of which are New York City

         23  residents. I get hundreds of e-mails, people asking

         24  me what to do, where they can go, who they can talk

         25  to. Even just to respond to them and say you're not
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          2  crazy, you know, it's not so crazy that this is

          3  making you insane. It really is a horrible problem

          4  to deal with. I'm not an expert and I don't really

          5  want to keep up this website. I do it because there

          6  is no alternative for these people.

          7                 There is nowhere else for them to go

          8  and I really hope that if something comes out of

          9  this meeting, that it's some sorce for people to go

         10  to to get some resource where they can get real

         11  information.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Did you move, or

         13  did you --

         14                 MS. HELLER: No. I was very lucky. My

         15  management company was very good. They took care of

         16  the problem. I didn't have to pay, and I shouldn't

         17  have had to pay. I had three extermination

         18  treatments, two of which maybe were not productive.

         19  And they were very good. They promised they would

         20  come in until the problem was solved. They treated

         21  not just my apartment, they treated neighboring

         22  apartments, they treated every apartment with a

         23  complaint. And I have to say I don't know if it's

         24  been completely effective. It's been effective in my

         25  apartment, but I am still seeing mattresses,
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          2  couches, bedding out on the sidewalk every day. So,

          3  I don't know if it's really been taken care of in

          4  the entire building. I can only guess. I do see bed

          5  bug remains on some of the mattresses, so it's still

          6  a problem. It continues.

          7                 I don't really have anything more to

          8  add, but I did want to say, you know, I hope that if

          9  anything comes out of this meeting, it's a resource

         10  for people to go to.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We want to thank

         12  you for coming down, Caitlin. We hope that we can

         13  reach out to you. We actually know that we're pretty

         14  much at the end, and I appreciate everything that

         15  you did and your patience and frustration, but we're

         16  trying to wrap it up now.

         17                 MS. HELLER: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But if you can be

         19  available to us for consultation, we'd appreciate

         20  it. And to all of the public that have taken the

         21  time to come. And you know, to come down and talk

         22  about your personal problems with this, we really

         23  feel for you, and we will do everything we can

         24  within our power to make this a regular issue within

         25  the Council so that we can at least do better with
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          2  informing the community about this issue and

          3  hopefully come up with some methodology to deal with

          4  it as soon as that technology becomes readily

          5  available. But as we heard today, there's a

          6  difference of opinion among the scientists, there's

          7  a difference of opinion on exterminators. Clearly

          8  the City doesn't have a policy in place yet, so we

          9  have some work to do.

         10                 Again, I want to thank Council Member

         11  Gale Brewer for bringing this problem to our

         12  attention. I want to thank Speaker Christine Quinn

         13  for allowing this hearing to go forward.

         14                 I know that Council Member Brewer has

         15  been trying well over a year to get this hearing on

         16  the books, you know, way before my term as Chair of

         17  the Committee, and I promised her that when I -- as

         18  soon as I could put it on the docket, I did. I'm

         19  glad that we are having this first hearing on it.

         20  Hopefully we'll get more media attention behind it

         21  and we can do more working together as a City to

         22  deal with this problem.

         23                 So, I want to thank Speaker Quinn and

         24  her staff. Of course, my excellent counsel and

         25  policy analyst, Brian Sobol and Thomas Ferrugia, and
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          2  my staff and Shula Warren and everyone from Council

          3  Member Brewer's staff, for having this hearing

          4  today.

          5                 And with that, I will call the

          6  hearing closed. And thank you all for participating.

          7  Thank you.

          8                 (Hearing concluded at 4:45 p.m.)
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